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Agenda Item 2
ABERDEEN, 26 JUNE, 2020, MINUTE OF MEETING OF THE STRATEGIC
DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY

Present:

Councillors J Cox (Chair); D Aitchison, P Bell, M Boulton, J Cooke, R
Grant, P Johnston, I Mollison, (as substitute for Councillor J Latham), B
Topping, and I Yuill.

Apologies: Councillors G Graham, J Latham, and D Mair.
Officers:

Aberdeen City Council: Ms G Beattie, Chief Officer, Strategic Place
Planning; Ms E Robertson, Committee Assistant; Mr A Thomson,
Solicitor, Governance; and Mr T Walsh, Senior Planner, (Local Plan
Team); and
Aberdeenshire Council: Mr P Macari, (Head of Service, Planning and
Environment); Ms M Stewart, Planning Service Manager; Mr C Smith,
Business Partner; Mr K Oxton, Accountant; and Ms J McRobbie
(Committee Officer).

In attendance: Ms A MacDonald, Senior Audit Manager, Audit Scotland.
1. SEDERUNT AND DECLARATION OF INTERESTS
The Chair asked if there were any declarations of interest. No interests were declared.
Apologies were noted from Councillors Graham, Latham, and Mair.
2. MINUTE OF MEETING OF THE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING
AUTHORITY OF 18 MARCH, 2020
There had been circulated and was approved as a correct record the Minute of
Meeting of 18 March, 2020.
3. UNAUDITED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2019/20
There had been circulated a report dated 18 June, 2020, by the Treasurer, requesting
Members’ consideration of the unaudited annual accounts 2019/20.
There was discussion as to the definitions of short-term debtors and creditors, and the
Authority agreed to approve for their interest the unaudited annual accounts for
2019/20.
4. ABERDEEN CITY AND SHIRE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING
AUTHORITY ANNUAL AUDIT PLAN
There had been circulated a report dated18 June, 2020, providing Audit Scotland’s
Annual Audit Plan for 2019/20.
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Having heard further from Ms MacDonald, Audit Scotland, of the work proposed, and
the context of the Authority being classed as a small body, with the focus on financial
sustainability and governance and transparency of decision-making, the Authority
agreed to note the Annual Audit Plan, 2019/20.

5. UPDATE ON PROPOSED STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN 2018
There had been circulated a joint report from the Chief Officer Strategic Place
Planning, Aberdeen City Council and the Head of Planning and Environment,
Aberdeenshire Council, providing an update on the current status of the proposed
Strategic Development Plan 2018, as yet unapproved by the Scottish Ministers, and
the implications for both Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire Proposed Local
Development Plans, approved by the respective Councils on 2 and 5 March, 2020, of
this.
Having heard further from officers, there was discussion as to whether the assumed
impacts of COVID-19 would be added to the Strategic Development Plan, with the
likely reduction in demand and explanation was given that the Strategic Development
Plan could not be amended, having already been examined in public and now sitting
with Scottish Ministers for approval or rejection.
The Authority agreed to note the updates provided.

6. DRAFT HOUSING LAND AUDIT
There had been circulated a joint report by Chief Officer Strategic Place Planning,
Aberdeen City Council and the Head of Planning and Environment, Aberdeenshire
Council, outlining the approach which had been adopted regarding the Housing Land
Audit, in the light of the Coronavirus pandemic.
The Authority heard further from officers that, since the report had been issued,
proposing that the usual stakeholder consultation, held in April/ May, could not be
progressed, as early discussions had highlighted that the industry had a low capacity
to engage, a recent communication had suggested that capacity was now in place.
There was discussion of the base date for the housing land audit, and agreement with
the development industry to use the existing audit for consideration in terms of the
current development plans.
The Authority Agreed:(1) that the stakeholder consultation take place as requested;
(2) that officers provide information on the firms represented by Homes for Scotland;
and
(3) in all other respects to note the terms of the report.
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7. FUTURE DATES
The Authority noted the remaining dates for future meetings as undernoted:
Wednesday, 23 September, 2020 – Aberdeen City Council; and
Friday, 11 December, 2020 – Aberdeenshire Council.

Councillor John Cox
Chair
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Agenda Item 3

ABERDEEN CITY & SHIRE
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY
Date: 23 September 2020
Report Title: Approval of the Strategic Development Plan 2020
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1 To advise the Strategic Development Planning Authority (SDPA) on the
approval of the Strategic Development Plan 2020 and the next steps in the
process.
2.

Background

2.1 The preparation of the City Region’s second Strategic Development Plan
started in 2016 with work on a Housing Need and Demand Assessment. Key
milestones since then were the publication of a Main Issues Report in March
2018 and a Proposed Plan in August 2018.
2.2 The Proposed Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan 2018 was
submitted to Scottish Ministers in April 2019, with the Planning and
Environmental Appeals Division of the Scottish Government confirming that it
had all the required information to start the examination process in May 2019.
2.3 A Reporter was allocated by Scottish Ministers on the 28 May 2019, and on 22
June 2019 a second Reporter was allocated for the Examination of the
Proposed Plan, to aid the speedy delivery of the report. The Examination
commenced on 25 June 2019.
2.4 Following two formal hearings and a number of further information requests
the examination was concluded. The Report of Examination was submitted to
Scottish Ministers on the 17 January 2020 with the Strategic Development
Plan Authority officer team receiving a copy of the Report of Examination the
same date.
2.5 At the last meeting of the Strategic Development Planning Authority (26 June
2020), approval of the proposed Strategic Development Plan by Scottish
Ministers was awaited. Officers, at the direction of Members, wrote to Scottish
Ministers seeking an update as to the status of the Proposed Strategic
Development Plan 2018.
3.

Approval of Strategic Development Plan

3.1 On 12 August 2020 Scottish Ministers approved the Aberdeen City and Shire
Strategic Development Plan. With immediate effect this replaced the Aberdeen
City and Shire Strategic Development Plan (2014) as the strategic part of the
development plan.
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3.2 The decision letter (Appendix 1) sets out the modifications made to the
proposed plan by Scottish Ministers which are in line with the
recommendations of the Report of Examination Report from January 2020.
The letter directs that the Strategic Development Plan, incorporating the
Scottish Ministers modifications, be published (either electronically or in hard
copy) as soon as is practically possible. The Strategic Development Plan 2020
was published online on 26 August 2020.
3.3 Appendix 2 contains the Strategic Development Plan 2020 incorporating the
modifications made by Scottish Ministers.
3.4 The publication of the Strategic Development Plan 2020 was advertised in the
Press and Journal. All respondents who made a submission during the period
of representation in public have been informed of the Plan’s publication.
3.5 The period for legal challenge commenced upon the publication of the
Strategic Development Plan 2020 and runs for a period of six weeks. The
period for submission of a legal challenge ends on the 8 October 2020.
3.6 A range of steps are now required to be taken following approval of the plan
by Scottish Ministers, as set out below.
3.7 Hard Copies: The Coronavirus (Scotland) Act 2020 requires the Strategic
Development Planning Authority to consider whether to publish a document or
make available a document for inspection which may give rise to a significant
risk of the transmission of coronavirus, or is likely to be ineffective or
inappropriate due to action taken in order to control the incidence or
transmission of coronavirus. This Act as well as UK and subordinate
legislation requires the Strategic Development Planning Authority to promote
the national policy of social/physical distancing. This has a direct impact on
publication of hard copies of the Strategic Development Plan 2020. Once
officers are certain it is safe to distribute hard copies of the Strategic
Development Plan 2020, they will be made available at both councils’
headquarters and all public libraries in the city region.
3.8 Strategic Environmental Appraisal – A ‘Post-Adoption Statement’ will be
prepared and presented to the Strategic Development Planning Authority at
the December 2020 meeting for approval. The Post Adoption Statement needs
to be agreed and published to conclude the Strategic Environmental
Assessment process for the Strategic Development Plan 2020. To meet the
requirements of the Environmental Assessment (Scotland) Act 2005, a notice
will be placed in the Press and Journal/Evening Express to inform interested
parties about the publication of the statement.
3.9 Delivery Programme – An updated Delivery Programme will be presented to
the Strategic Development Planning Authority at the December 2020 meeting.
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4.

Status of the Strategic Development Plan 2020

4.1 The requirement to produce and replace Strategic Development Plans in no
longer in effect as a result of the enactment of the Planning (Scotland) Act
2019.
4.2 Under transitional arrangements for the implementation of the Planning
(Scotland) Act 2019 the approved Strategic Development Plan 2020 will
remain the strategic part of the development plan until the National Planning
Framework 4 is approved by the Scottish Parliament.
4.3 It had been the intention of the Planning and Architecture Division of the
Scottish Government to publish a consultative draft of National Planning
Framework 4 in September 2020. Due to the impacts of the Coronavirus
pandemic this has now been pushed back to autumn 2021. An interim position
statement on the National Planning Framework 4 will be published before the
end of Autumn 2020.
5.

Recommendations
It is recommended that the Strategic Development Planning Authority:
a. note the approval of the Strategic Development Plan 2020 by Scottish
Ministers and its subsequent publication;
b. note that the period for legal challenge of the Strategic Development Plan
runs until the 8 October 2020.
c. note that a Strategic Environmental Assessment Post-Adoption Statement
will be presented at the December 2020 meeting of the Strategic
Development Planning Authority.
d. note that an updated Delivery Programme will be presented at the
December 2020 meeting of the Strategic Development Planning Authority.

Report Prepared By:
Tom Walsh
Senior Planner
Aberdeen City Council
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Gale Beattie
Chief Officer Strategic Place Planning
Aberdeen City Council
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Paul Macari
Head of Planning and Environment
Aberdeenshire Council

Local Government and Communities Directorate
Planning and Architecture Division



Tom Walsh
Senior Planner SDP
Aberdeen City and Shire SDPA
By email:
TWalsh@aberdeencity.gov.uk

___
Our ref: A29215946
12 August 2020
Dear Tom
THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (SCOTLAND) ACT 1997
ABERDEEN CITY AND SHIRE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN – MINISTERIAL
APPROVAL
The Scottish Ministers have decided to approve the above plan with modifications. In
reaching their decision they have considered the issues raised in representations made in
accordance with the Town and Country Planning (Scotland) Act 1997 (as amended) (“the
Planning Act”) and the report of the examination conducted under Section 12 of the Planning
Act.
The Scottish Ministers approve the Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan
with the modifications specified in the Annex to this letter. Part 1 of the Annex relates to the
issues considered in the Examination Report. Ministers accept the reasons set out in the
examination report and adopt them as their own. Part 2 of the Annex sets out additional
minor, technical modifications for the purpose of clarity. Regarding issues where no
modifications were proposed in the examination report, Ministers accept the reasoning set
out in the report and adopt them as their own.
Ministers have assessed the modifications for the purposes of Strategic Environmental
Assessment, Habitats Regulations Appraisal and Equalities Impact Assessment and find that
no significant impacts arise.
The Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan as modified is constituted as the
strategic development plan for the Aberdeen City and Shire development plan area from the
date of this letter.

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh EH6 6QQ
www.gov.scot
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Scottish Ministers’ approval of the proposed plan, as modified, is founded primarily on the
consideration of its policies and general purposes and relates to the proposed plan as a
whole. It should be understood that the Scottish Ministers’ approval of the plan does not
convey any approval of the matter therein for any other statutory purpose. In particular it
does not commit the Scottish Ministers, or any other government department, to the payment
of grant on any particular project or to the documents submitted with the proposed plan.
The foregoing decision is final, subject to the right, conferred by Section 238 of the Planning
Act, of any person aggrieved by the Scottish Ministers’ decision to apply to the Court of
Session within six weeks from the date of publication of the Plan, as modified, whereby the
Court may quash the plan (in whole or in part) if it is satisfied that it is not within the powers
of the Act or that the applicant’s interests have been substantially prejudiced by a failure to
comply with any requirement of the Act.
Under Section 14 of the Planning Act, the Strategic Development Planning Authority must
now publish the strategic development plan as modified, send two copies to the Scottish
Ministers, place a copy of it in public libraries in the plan area, notify those who made
representations on the plan and advertise in a local newspaper that the plan has been
published. The Coronavirus (Scotland) Act 2020 has temporarily amended the requirements
of the Planning Act in respect of the publication of reports and documents and its
requirements should be met in the meantime. Information about this decision will be posted
on the Scottish Government’s website.
Yours sincerely

Robin Campbell
Planning and Architecture Division

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh EH6 6QQ
www.gov.scot

Page 12





ANNEX: THE TOWN AND COUNTRY PLANNING (SCOTLAND) ACT 1997
ABERDEEN CITY AND SHIRE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLAN – MINISTERIAL APPROVAL
PART 1 – MODIFICATIONS FROM EXAMINATION REPORT

ISSUE
01 Our Plan
02 Our Vision
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03 Our
Spatial
Strategy General
04 Our
Spatial
Strategy –
Amendments
to Strategic
Growth Areas
05 Our
Spatial
Strategy –
The
Aberdeen
Western
Peripheral
Route
06 Strategic
Growth Area

MODIFICATION
No modifications.
1. Add the words “and, where appropriate, enhancing” after “protecting” in the second bullet point in
paragraph 2.2 on page 7.
2. Add the words “and support” after “help create” in the third bullet point in paragraph 2.3 on page 7.
3. Add the words “available and” before “attractive” in the final bullet point in paragraph 2.3 on page 7.
1. Replace the words “native and semi-natural woodlands” in the final sentence of paragraph 6.2 on page 38
with “native and ancient semi-natural woodlands”.

No modifications.

No modifications.

1. Add “and active travel modes” at the end of the last sentence of paragraph 3.24 on page 14.

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh EH6 6QQ
www.gov.scot





Page 14

ISSUE
– Aberdeen
City
07 Strategic
Growth Area
– Aberdeen to
Peterhead
08 Strategic
Growth Area
– Aberdeen to
Huntly
09 Strategic
Growth Area
– Aberdeen to
Laurencekirk

10 Local
Growth and
Diversification
Areas and
Regeneration
11 Our
Communities
- Placemaking
12 Our
Communities
– Housing
Supply Target
13 Our
Communities
– Housing

MODIFICATION

No modifications.

No modifications.

1. Figure 5 (Strategic Growth Area – Aberdeen to Laurencekirk) on page 21 should depict the A90 and the
main east coast railway line by showing an interaction with Stonehaven and Portlethen and the railway line
should follow the coastline from Stonehaven to Aberdeen. The grey settlement dots should be consistent in
size. [Note: this recommendation might require consequential changes to other figures in the plan.]
See Part 2 consequential modifications.
1. Add the text “vision,” before “aims” in the third sentence of paragraph 3.47 on page 23.
2. Add the following sentence to the end of paragraph 3.54 on page 25: “The Formartine and Buchan Way is
one of ‘Scotland’s Great Trails’. It connects with these towns and provides a key tourism opportunity.”.
3. Add the words “and historic” after “natural” in the final sentence of paragraph 3.54 on page 25.
1. Delete the words “If we are” from the start of paragraph 4.1 on page 26.
2. Insert “,where practicable,” after “Local Development Plans must” in the first bullet point under the heading
‘How to Meet the Targets’ in the Our Economy section on page 36.
No modifications.

1. Replace the second sentence of paragraph 4.11 on page 28 with:
“An increase to the Housing Supply Target of 10% “generosity” is focussed on the 2016 to 2019 period with
20% applied for the period 2020 to 2032 to cover the next Local Development Plans.”.

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh EH6 6QQ
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ISSUE
Land
Requirement

MODIFICATION
2. Replace Table 2: Housing Land Requirement by Housing Market Area, Local Authority and Tenure Mix on
page 29 with the table set out below to reflect a 10% margin added to the housing supply target for the period
2016 to 2019. [Note: Table appended to the next page.]
Table 2:
Housing Land Requirement by Housing Market Area, Local Authority and Tenure Mix
2016-2019
Affordable

Total

Affordable

Market

2033-2040
Total

Affordable

Market

20162040
Total
Global
Total
16,474
50,366
4,118
13,126

Aberdeen Housing Market Area
Rural Housing Market Area

2,256
748

4,180
1,396

6,436
2,144

9,610
2,402

17,846
4,462

27,456
6,864

5,766
1,442

10,708
2,676

Aberdeen City Council
Aberdeenshire Council

1,502
1,502

2,788
2,788

4,290
4,290

6,006
6,006

11,154
11,154

17,160
17,160

3,604
3,604

6,692
6,692

10,296
10,296

31,746
31,746

3,004

5,576

8,580

12,012

22,308

34,320

7,208

13,384

20,592

63,492

Aberdeen City and
Shire
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14 Our
Communities
– Additional
Housing
Allocations

Market

2020-2032

Total

1. Insert a new final sentence at the end of paragraph 4.11 on page 28 as follows:
“The allowances for this period are indicative and will be subject to future review.”.
2. Replace the first sentence of paragraph 4.19 on page 31 with:
“Allocations should be of a scale which would not inhibit the delivery of current strategic allocations and
should not be extensions to any existing, strategic, development sites that have been subject to a
masterplanning exercise”.
3. Replace Table 3: Local Development Plan Housing Allowances and footnotes on
page 30 with the table set out below. [Note: the table is appended to the next page.]
Table 3:
Local Development Plan Housing Allowances
Housing Supply
Allowances
Housing
Housing
Allowances
Allowances Allowances
Total
supply 2016- supply 20332020-2032
2033-2035
2036-2040
2032*1
2040*2
AHMA
26,325
2,767
8,172
7,200
6,402
21,774
RHMA
6,361
821
2,042
1,800
1,602
5,444
Aberdeen City
Council

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh EH6 6QQ
www.gov.scot
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1,733

5,107

4,500





4,002

13,609

ISSUE

MODIFICATION
Aberdeenshire
Council

15,967

1,855

5,107

4,500

4,002

13,609

Totals

32,686

3,588

10,214

9,000
27,218

8,004

27,218

36,274
Housing Land
Requirement

63,492

*1 Comprising completions 2016-2018 (6,223); effective supply 2019-2023 (13,067); programming of sites 2024 to 2026 (5,876);
and extrapolated programming 2027 to 2032 (7,520) all based on the agreed 2019 housing land audit.
*2 Compiled from extrapolated programming from the agreed 2019 housing land audit.
Note – components may not sum to totals due to rounding. Allowances will not include sites of less than 5 homes.
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15 Our
Communities
– Housing
Market Areas
16 Our
Economy

17 Our
Resources

No modifications.

1. Add a further bullet point at the end of the “How to Meet the Targets” section on page 36 to read:
“Encourage opportunities for home-working, live-work units, micro businesses and community hubs.”.
2. At the end of the second sentence of paragraph 5.6 “Town Centre First” on page 35 add: “Local
development plans will identify a network of centres, which is likely to include the city centre, town centres,
local centres and commercial centres and be organised as a hierarchy.”
1. At paragraph 6.6 on page 40 replace the last sentence with “Appropriate mitigation and adaptation
measures will have to be taken to deal with this matter. Any variation of the water abstraction licence would
be the responsibility of the Scottish Environment Protection Agency.”.
2. At the end of paragraph 6.7 on page 40 add: “For the city region there is proposed to be two regional
marine partnerships to cover the marine areas of Aberdeenshire and Aberdeen City, but they have not been
established yet. The regional marine partnership work is intended to take forward the National Marine Plan
and allow more local ownership and decision-making about specific issues within their respective areas.”.
3. Replace the word “possible” with “unacceptable adverse” in the third sentence of paragraph 6.8 on
page 40.
4. Insert the title “Heritage Assets” prior to paragraph 6.12 on page 40 and replace the current sentence with
“Structures, sites and areas and their appropriate settings are valued for their contribution to the historic

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh EH6 6QQ
www.gov.scot





ISSUE

MODIFICATION
environment, they also contribute to a sense of place, the economy and the natural environment and should
be protected from unacceptable impacts of development.”.
5. At the end of paragraph 6.15 on page 41 add: “Figure 7 identifies, at a strategic scale, areas with potential
for onshore wind farms. Local development plans will provide detailed spatial frameworks indicating the
minimum scale to which the framework relates and provide criteria to assess wind energy proposals.”.
6. Insert ‘Figure 7: Spatial Framework for Wind Farms over 15 metres in height’ into the our resources section
of the plan. [Note: the plan submitted by the authority in response to FIR04 should be used.]
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ISSUE

MODIFICATION
7. Replace the final word “possible” with “feasible” in the second sentence of paragraph 6.20 on page 41.
8. At page 41 add a new paragraph 6.21 as follows: “Sufficient hard rock aggregate is available across the
region with sites identified in local development plans. The position regarding sand and gravel is less clear as
availability of sites, demand and the monitoring of use for any large infrastructure project is less easy to
gauge. There are also opportunities for recycling of secondary aggregate. Policy should be put in place in
the local development plans to allow supplies of construction aggregates to be made available within the plan
area to support the development needs of the city region over the plan period. Local development plans
should also identify areas of search for minerals and safeguard where practicable all workable mineral
resources which are of economic or conservation value and ensure that these are not sterilised by other
development. As an alternative, a criteria based approach may be taken.”.
9. Modify the first bullet point of “Targets” on page 42 by adding the words “and natural” after “historic”.
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18 Our
Connections

1. Add the following text to the end of paragraph 3.7 on page 8:
“The proposed interventions listed in Schedule 1 will be subject to further relevant detailed appraisal and
design work which will inform the requirements for developer contributions for their appraisal and/or delivery.”.
2. Remove the words “where” and “may be required” from the first sentence of paragraph 7.7 on page 44.
3. Add the following text to the end of the second bullet point under the heading “How to Meet the Targets” on
page 45:
“The interventions listed in Schedule 1 will be considered through Local and Regional Transport Strategies
subject to their appropriate appraisal, review, development and programming, and included in local
development plans as appropriate.”.
4. Add the following text to the end of paragraph 8.7 on page 47:
“The interventions listed in Schedule 1 shall continue to be reviewed, appropriately appraised, developed and
programmed in association with the Regional Transport Strategy, the Local Development Plans, and other
delivery mechanisms.”.
5. Remove the word “potential” from the heading in Schedule 1 on page 49.
6. Remove the words “may be required to” in the introductory paragraph in Schedule 1 on page 49.
7. Add a new paragraph to Schedule 1 on page 49 as follows:
“The appraisal work undertaken to date has been proportionate and based on the approach outlined within
Transport Scotland’s Development Planning and Management Transport Appraisal Guidance (DPMTAG).
The proposed interventions listed in this schedule will require further appropriate appraisal and review but
are, at this stage, required to assist the delivery of the spatial strategy.”.

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh EH6 6QQ
www.gov.scot





ISSUE

MODIFICATION
8. Replace the table in Schedule 1 on page 49 with the table below. [Note: the table is appended on the next
page.]

Page 19
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ISSUE

MODIFICATION
Summary of Transport Intervention Options

Page 20

Enhanced bus service provision through developing cross city bus services, bus stop review and optimisation of
services with new bus priority infrastructure
Additional rail station car parking capacity at Dyce, Stonehaven, Portlethen, Laurencekirk and Huntly Rail Stations.
Improved interchange at Inverurie Station
Potential new rail stations to the north and south of Aberdeen which will be required to be considered through the
STAG appraisal process and in accordance with rail station investment guidance
Range of active travel infrastructure initiatives improving accessibility
Package of behavioural change initiatives encouraging car-sharing, public transport use and active travel
Optimisation of the performance of the network and new transport investments following the monitoring and
evaluation of post-AWPR travel conditions
Road traffic signalisation or equivalent capacity enhancement measures at AWPR Cleanhill, A944, A947 and
Kingswells North intersections to be considered following monitoring and evaluation period and through further
detailed traffic assessment
Aberdeen City Centre
Road Junction
Urban Corridors
Wellington Road, Persley Bridge & Parkway, Parkhill, A96,
and
Dyce Drive, Bridge of Dee corridors
operational
efficiency
A90 North Toll of Birness/Ellon, A90 South and A947 corridors
Rural Corridors
enhancements
Dualling the A96 between the east of Huntly and Aberdeen

19 Our Future No modifications.
20 Glossary
No modification.
21
No modifications.
Miscellaneous
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PART 2 – CONSEQUENTIAL MODIFICATIONS
Page
Front Cover
Front Cover
Pages 2 – 57
(footer)
Page 9

Page 17

Page 21

Page 19
Page 31

Page 32

Change title from ‘Proposed Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan’ to ‘Aberdeen City
and Shire Strategic Development Plan’
Change the publication date from ‘August 2018’ to ‘Approved August 2020’
Change footer wording from ‘Proposed Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan August
2018’ to ‘Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan August 2020’
Figure 1 (Spatial Strategy) should depict the main east coast railway line by showing an interaction with
Stonehaven and the railway line should follow the coastline from Stonehaven to Aberdeen. It should
also depict the railway line by showing an interaction with Inverurie. The grey settlement dots should be
consistent in size.
Figure 3 (Strategic Growth Area – Aberdeen to Peterhead). The grey settlement dots should be
consistent in size.
Figure 4 (Strategic Growth Area – Aberdeen to Huntly) should depict the railway line by showing an
interaction with Inverurie and Insch. The grey settlement dots should be consistent in size.
Replace the second sentence of paragraph 4.19 on page 31 with:
“It will be up to the Local Development Plans to determine whether a proposal is of an appropriate scale,
taking these factors into account and giving due regard to its context and deliverability”.
Reason
To ensure consistency with the first sentence of paragraph 4.19 on page 31, which is subject to
Examination modification Issue 14 Our Communities – Additional Housing Allocaitons (2). See Part 1
Annex.
Figure 6 (Housing Market Areas). The grey settlement dots should be consistent in size.

Victoria Quay, Edinburgh EH6 6QQ
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Aberdeen City and Shire
Strategic Development Plan
Approved August 2020
Page 23

Page 24
Queries relating to the Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic
Development Plan can be sent to:
planning@aberdeenshire.gov.uk
ldp@aberdeencity.gov.uk

Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan | August 2020

Foreword
I am delighted to introduce the second Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic
Development Plan. This Plan continues the City Region’s ethos of collaborative
and effective partnership working between the two constituent local authorities,
along with local communities and other key stakeholders. This will be the
last Strategic Development Plan and while there will be new challenges and
opportunities as a result of Scotland’s emerging planning system this Plan will
enable us to look forward with both vision and confidence.
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Our vision is a City Region that is even more attractive as a place to live, work
and do business, as well as a City Region that is more resilient and sustainable
for our communities and our environment. As a City Region we aspire to promote
growth that embraces economic opportunity and diversification, while protecting
and valuing the environment and people on which it so greatly relies.
Councillor John Cox
Chair Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Planning Authority

Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan | August 2020
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1. Our Plan

Page 29

1.1

This Strategic Development Plan tells the story of where and how we want our
City Region to grow, drawing on our historical roots and using our skills and
expertise to continue sustainable economic growth well into the future.

1.6

The Strategic Development Plan will be used to inform Local Development Plans
prepared by both Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire Councils, and these Plans
will cover a wider range of local planning issues in more detail.

1.2

This Plan has been prepared by the Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic
Development Planning Authority on behalf of Aberdeen City Council and
Aberdeenshire Council. The Plan covers the local authority areas of Aberdeen
City and Aberdeenshire, except that part of Aberdeenshire which is within
the Cairngorms National Park. The area covered by this Plan is referred to
throughout as the ‘City Region’.

1.7

The Plan is supported by an Action Programme which shows how we will realise
our goals with the help of our partners.

1.8

This Plan is a refresh of the Strategic Development Plan 2014, which updated
the Structure Plan of 2009. The Spatial Strategy formulated in the Structure Plan
2009 has been successfully pursued for almost ten years, and this Plan seeks to
continue that Strategy for the next five years. At the time of writing, the Planning
(Scotland) Bill 2017 is progressing through Scottish Parliament. Both Aberdeen
City and Aberdeenshire Council are committed to the benefits of regional spatial
planning in the City Region.

1.3

A Strategic Development Plan is a statutory planning document which is prepared
at a City Region level. This Plan is one of four Strategic Development Plans
across Scotland and covers a twenty-year period to 2040.

1.4

The Plan aims to be concise and visionary, and targets what we want to change.
It does this by focusing on issues which are nationally or regionally important,
or which can be best dealt with by Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire Councils
working together.

1.5

The Plan has been written in the context of national strategies, policy and
guidance from the Scottish Government, and should be read as a whole
document rather than as individual sections.
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2. Our Vision
By 2040, Aberdeen City and Shire will have grown and evolved to become
an even more attractive, prosperous, resilient and sustainable European City
Region. It will be an excellent place to live, visit and do business.

Page 30

We will be recognised for:
• our enterprise and inventiveness in the knowledge economy and high-value
markets – with a particular focus on energy, biopharmaceuticals, tourism,
food and drink, fishing and the primary industries; and,
•

the City Region’s unique built, historic and natural environment, which will be
protected and, where appropriate, enhanced as a key asset in underpinning
a high quality of life and place.

Decision makers will have acted confidently and taken the courageous decisions
necessary to further develop a robust and diversified economy.
Both Councils will have taken a proactive approach towards development that:
ensures the sustainable use of natural resources, the ability to live within the
area’s environmental capacity, can deal with climate change, and creates a more
open, inclusive society.

Turriff Town Centre

6
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2.2
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2.3

Although the two Councils will lead the way, many organisations will be
involved in delivering the Vision.

Policy

To make the Vision a reality, and to contribute towards the Scottish
Government’s central purpose of increasing sustainable economic growth, we
have developed a series of aims. These are to:

In assessing proposals for development, we will balance the importance given to
each Aim in coming to a decision, taking into account the Vision, Spatial Strategy,
Objectives and Targets of this Plan.

•

provide a strong framework for investment decisions which will help to
grow and diversify the regional economy in a sustainable manner;

•

promote the need to use resources more efficiently and effectively whilst
protecting and where appropriate enhancing our assets; and,

•

take on the urgent challenges of climate change.

To support these aims, this Plan will need to:
•

make sure the area has enough homes and job opportunities to support the
level of services and facilities needed to maintain and improve quality of life;

•

protect and, where appropriate, enhance our valued assets and resources,
including biodiversity, the historic and natural environment and our cultural
heritage;

•

help create and support sustainable mixed communities, and the provision
of associated infrastructure, which will meet the highest standards of
placemaking, urban and rural design, and cater for the needs of the whole
population;

•

encourage opportunities for greater digital connectivity across the City
Region; and,

•

Duthie Park, Aberdeen

make the most efficient use of the transport network, reducing the need for
people to travel and making sure that walking, cycling and public transport
are available and attractive choices.
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3. Our Spatial Strategy
All parts of the City Region are important for the future of the area. However,
different areas will play different roles as a result of both their current
characteristics and their future potential.

3.2

All parts of the Strategic Development Plan area are either within a Strategic
Growth Area or a Local Growth and Diversification Area. Identifying where
development will take place is an essential part of delivering the Plan’s
Vision. Being clear about where we want new homes, businesses and other
developments to be focused will provide long-term certainty and confidence for
communities and businesses, as well as organisations that provide infrastructure
and other key services.
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3.1

3.3

3.4

8

The Aberdeen City and Shire Structure Plan 2009 developed a long-term
Spatial Strategy to promote development in places that would meet the needs of
business and, at the same time, would be sustainable and take on the challenges
of climate change. It also recognised the need to maintain and improve the
area’s communities and the services they depend on. The Spatial Strategy was
carried forward into the Strategic Development Plan 2014 and is continued by
this Plan. This Strategy has been responsible for significant positive change
across the City Region in the last decade, and this Plan will continue to support its
ongoing delivery.
The Spatial Strategy plans for growth to be focused in a limited number of places.
These are locations where public and private investment in schools, community
facilities and transport infrastructure can take place in order to benefit wider
quality of life and provide the flexibility to meet the needs of local communities.

3.5

Local Development Plans will use the Spatial Strategy from this Plan to set
policies and identify land for development. Planning applications will be assessed
against the Spatial Strategy and the Local Development Plans to decide whether
the location, nature and scale of development is in line with this Plan.

3.6

The Aberdeen City Region Deal is the primary mechanism to support the delivery
of the Spatial Strategy and the wider economic vision for the region. The City
Region Deal is valued to be worth £826.2 million over a ten-year period. Both
the United Kingdom and Scottish Governments have jointly committed to invest
up to £250 million in the City Region. This will be supported by a further £44
million by Aberdeen City Council, Aberdeenshire Council and other regional
partners. In addition, the Scottish Government have committed a further £254
million to the City Region to be focused on affordable housing delivery, digital/
superfast broadband and transport connectivity.

3.7

To make changes on the scale proposed by this Plan, we must invest in existing
and new infrastructure, and City Region Deal investment will help to deliver a
number of key infrastructure projects. This will be essential to maintaining and
enhancing the quality of life of our communities. Developers will also have to
accept the need for contributions towards necessary infrastructure, services,
and facilities, and should take account of this when negotiating the price paid for
land. The proposed interventions listed in Schedule 1 will be subject to further
relevant detailed appraisal and design work which will inform the requirements
for developer contributions for their appraisal and/or delivery.
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Figure 1:
Spatial Strategy

Strategic Growth Areas

Trunk Roads

Local Growth and Diversification Areas

Rail Lines

A Roads

Regeneration Priority Area

Banff Macduff

Fraserburgh

Turriff
Huntly
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Inverurie

Peterhead
Ellon

Alford
Westhill

Aberdeen

Banchory
Stonehaven
Laurencekirk
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Strategic Growth Areas
3.8

3.9

The Strategic Growth Areas will be the main focus for development in the area
up to 2040. Over this period, we expect that at least 75% of all homes built and
employment land developed will be in the Strategic Growth Areas.
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The Strategic Growth Areas outwith Aberdeen City are relatively narrow, up to
5 kilometres wide, and the Local Development Plans will take the final view on
which settlements and sites are within a Strategic Growth Area.

3.10

The Strategic Growth Areas will make housing, employment opportunities and
services sustainable by ensuring that these uses are in close proximity to each
other and connected by high quality active travel networks and public transport.

3.11

It will therefore be important for Local Development Plans to explore
opportunities to expand and connect strategic walking and cycle networks,
building on current and planned networks where these are available. This should
provide opportunities to improve the natural environment by linking habitats
and open spaces through green infrastructure and networks. Appropriate new
planting will also play an important role. These networks should consider how
best to link in with plans for a National Long Distance Cycling and Walking
Network as they are developed in conjunction with the Regional and Local
Transport Strategies.

3.12

All four Strategic Growth Areas will focus on creating sustainable mixed
communities with the services, facilities and infrastructure necessary for the 21st
century. This will include new and improved infrastructure, such as:
• new or extended primary and secondary schools;
•

10

multifunctional green networks and green spaces, including areas for food
growing;

3.13

3.14

•

improvements to roads and railways as well as active travel (walking / cycling)
and bus networks;

•

upgrades to energy networks;

•

enhanced digital connections; and,

•

new water supply and waste-water systems.

In addition, the City Region Deal has identified the need for three key Innovation
Hub projects, and it is expected that these will be located within the Strategic
Growth Areas. The location of these Hubs should be identified by the Local
Development Plans.
• Oil & Gas Technology Centre
•

Agri-Food and Nutrition Hub for Innovation

•

Bio-Therapeutic Hub for Innovation

The Aberdeen Western Peripheral Route provides a new strategic route to
improve travel in and around the City Region and connects the four Strategic
Growth Areas. Local Development Plans must ensure that the transport benefits
created by the road are “locked in” and that the capacity of the route, and its
junctions, is not negatively affected by development. Local Development Plans,
in line with the sequential test and Town Centre First Principle, should expressly
avoid any new development that would result in a negative impact on the route
or any junction. Any new development adjacent to the Aberdeen Western
Peripheral Route, including the Fastlink to Stonehaven, will be resisted unless it
has been properly considered through the Development Plan process, and any
proposals which are not identified by a Local Development Plan will generally not
be supported.

Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan | August 2020

Page 35
Peterhead Port
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Strategic Growth Area: Aberdeen City
Aberdeen is Scotland’s third-largest city and the regional centre for employment,
retail, culture, health and higher education as well as being the City Region’s main
transport hub – with road, rail, sea and air links.

3.19

A City Centre Transformation Zone is identified by this Plan to build on existing
work undertaken by the City Centre Masterplan and Delivery Programme and the
Business Improvement District.

3.16

Since the approval of the last Strategic Development Plan, large projects such as
the new Aberdeen South Harbour at Bay of Nigg, the development of TECA –
The Events Complex Aberdeen, and the commitment towards provision of a new
Energy From Waste plant continue to demonstrate a drive towards future growth
and diversification.

3.20

Eight objectives are included within the City Centre Masterplan to provide a
framework for addressing the challenges facing the area:
• Changing perceptions and promoting the City as more than just an energy
hub.
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3.15

3.17

During the lifetime of this Plan a new regional mortuary will be required in order
to address capacity and other technical constraints at the existing facility on
Queen Street. The preferred location for the new facility is within the existing
Aberdeen Royal Infirmary site at Foresterhill. Aberdeen City Council should work
with NHS Grampian and other agencies to ensure a suitable location can be
identified for this facility in the Aberdeen City Local Development Plan.

City Centre Transformation Zone
3.18

12

Aberdeen City Centre is an important asset for the City Region and must continue
to be enhanced and promoted. We need to take determined action to create a
City Centre to be proud of, and which reflects the global status and ambitions of
the city and the wider region. The City Centre will be promoted through excellent
public transport links and by minimising the impact of traffic.

•

Growing the City Centre employment base by promoting the area as a centre
for business, trade, leisure, innovation and enterprise.

•

A metropolitan outlook and recognition of the fact that proposals for the City
Centre will have a wider metropolitan context across the City Region.

•

Creating a living city for everyone by increasing the amount of housing
available in the city centre, and by creating more “liveable” environments to
ensure that City Centre living is an attractive choice.

•

Promoting the “Made in Aberdeen” brand by ensuring the City Centre retains
its distinctiveness and embraces local character.

•

Revealing waterfronts by reconnecting the City Centre with the harbour,
beach and rivers.

•

Striving to become a technologically advanced and environmentally
responsible City.

•

Promoting cultural identify and a culturally distinctive place.
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Figure 2:
Strategic Growth Area - Aberdeen City
Strategic Growth Areas

Rail Lines
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Trunk Roads
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Movement:
1

Intervention - Persley Bridge / Parkway

2

Intervention - Kingswells

3

Intervention - River Dee Link

4

Intervention - A96 Dualling

5

Intervention - A956

6

Intervention - A944

7

Aberdeen International Airport

Place:
7
11
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Page 37

1

2

6

12

8
10

3

8

Aberdeen Harbour

9

Aberdeen South Harbour / Cruise Terminal

10

City Centre Transformation Zone and Business Improvement District

11

TECA - The Event Complex Aberdeen

12

North & North East Mortuary Project

13
5

9

Infrastructure:
13

Aberdeen

City Fibre Project
Aberdeen Bay, European Offshore Wind Deployment Centre

Connections:
Improved Cross City Connections for Active Travel
Improved Cross Boundary Connections for Active Travel / Green Networks
National / International Maritime Links
Rivers – Blue / Green Corridors
Walking / Active Travel Opportunities / Coastal Trail
Formartine & Buchan Way / Deeside Way

Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan | August 2020

13

3.21

It will be important for the public and private sector to work together to ensure
these objectives can be realised. Prospects for a Low Emission Zone and
individual projects set out in the City Centre Masterplan should be recognised
within the Aberdeen City Local Development Plan. Development proposals
outwith the City Centre that would undermine its regional role should be strongly
resisted.
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Connections
3.22

Aberdeen Harbour is a vital gateway for the regional economy and provides
important passenger and freight links to the Northern Isles, Scandinavian, Europe
and further afield. Work has commenced on the £350 million development of
a new Aberdeen South Harbour at Bay of Nigg, which has been identified as a
National Development. This work is expected to be completed in 2020 and will
provide facilities which are in addition to the existing harbour. Work undertaken
as part of the City Region Deal will identify what infrastructure will be required to
ensure the benefits of the harbour developments are maximised.

3.23

The Aberdeen City Local Development Plan will need to consider how to
maximise the opportunities presented by the two harbours by way of detailed
masterplanning exercises, taking into account the wider transformation of
Aberdeen City Centre and the potential to improve existing business and
industrial land in the surrounding area. The Local Development Plan should also
consider other opportunities for ‘blue growth’ within this area, and how best to
promote sustainable tourism proposals in particular.

3.24

In terms of public transport, a wide range of measures will be required to either
tackle existing problems or support the growth planned in this Strategic Growth
Area over the Plan period. The Cross City Transport Connections Study will
inform opportunities to provide a cross-city public transport service and enhance
accessibility to more destinations by public transport and active travel modes.

14

3.25

The planned completion of the railway dualling works between Aberdeen and
Inverurie also means there are opportunities for improved rail services into
the City. In conjunction with a new Regional Transport Strategy, work should
be undertaken to assess the feasibility of additional local rail stations around
Aberdeen. When planning for future transport networks, opportunities to
incorporate infrastructure improvements should be pursued.

3.26

Tackling road congestion will be another key consideration within the City, and
reducing the effect of transport on the environment (including improving air
quality) is particularly important. Providing safe active travel opportunities and
promoting the connectivity of green networks will also be a key part of tackling
road congestion.

Aberdeen Harbour
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Credit: Muse Developments
15

Strategic Growth Area: Aberdeen to Peterhead
3.27
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3.28

3.29

16

This area includes the Energetica Corridor and has important strategic assets,
high environmental quality and significant potential for development. The focus
for this Strategic Growth Areas is on developing and diversifying the economy
with a strong focus on the quality of development and placemaking. Upgrading
the A90 to reduce safety concerns and improve journey times will be key to
unlocking this area’s potential.

3.30

There are a number of National Developments identified within this area which
the Aberdeenshire Local Development Plan must make provision for. These
include:
• the development of Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) Technology at
Peterhead Power Station (Boddam), with a potential pipeline extension to St
Fergus;
•

a key role for Peterhead as a National Renewable Infrastructure Site and
“Energy Hub”; and,

•

the expected landfall for offshore High Voltage Energy Transmission Networks
to Norway and England.

At St Fergus, the gas terminal continues to play an important role. The Acorn
Project at St Fergus creates the opportunity for low carbon hydrogen production,
using natural gas and capturing the carbon dioxide (CO2) for storage offshore
deep underground. Around 35% of all the United Kingdom’s natural gas comes
ashore at St Fergus, making it an ideal site for a major hydrogen production hub.
It is hoped that hydrogen from St Fergus will be blended directly into the gas grid
and enable phased decarbonisation of heat. Ensuring that the Terminal’s integrity
is safeguarded from development which could compromise operations or future
growth will therefore be important.

The northern end of this Strategic Growth Area can play an important role in the
economic future of the City Region by way of the following:
• Peterhead Port offers deep-water, decommissioning and off-shore renewable
opportunities. We need to embrace these opportunities, and also build
on the £51 million expansion of the Port to develop the facility into a fullyintegrated fishing hub.
•

A Simplified Planning Zone at Peterhead South is in the process of
development, and will have a focus on employment generation and economic
development.

•

The Peterhead Town Centre Business Improvement District provides an
opportunity for local businesses to work together, secure investment and
improve the economic viability of the town and its Centre.

3.31

Within the central and southern parts of this Strategic Growth Area it will be
important to realise economic potential by embracing opportunities for tourism.
It will also be important to consider any further opportunities for development at
Ellon following the opening of the Aberdeen Western Peripheral Route and the
A90 Balmedie to Tipperty dual carriageway.

3.32

Aberdeenshire Council should also continue to work with Nestrans to investigate
rail links to Buchan.
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Figure 3:
Strategic Growth Area - Aberdeen to Peterhead
Strategic Growth Areas

Trunk Roads
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Regeneration Priority Area

Green Belt

Aberdeen City Local Authority Area

Movement:
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A952 to Fraserburgh Improvements
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A90 (North) Corridor Improvements

Place:
9

Fraserburgh

3

Peterhead Town Centre Business Improvement District

4

Peterhead Port

Infrastructure:
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7
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4
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5

North Connect 								
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Western Norway
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Boddam - Carbon Capture and Storage (CCS) Network and Thermal Generation

7

St Fergus Gas Terminal
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Hywind Scotland
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Decommissioning Centre of Excellence

9

Moray Offshore Renewable Power / Operations and Maintenance Base

Connections:
Green Network Opportunities
8
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Strategic Bike Project
River - Blue / Green Corridor
Walking / Active Travel Opportunities/ Coastal Trail

Aberdeen
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Strategic Growth Area: Aberdeen to Huntly
This area contains several thriving Aberdeenshire communities, and significant
development will take place in the road and rail corridor stretching from Huntly to
Blackburn over the Plan period.

3.34

The Inverurie Business Improvement District aims to capitalise on existing
resources and build a stronger, more sustainable, town for the future. This
Strategic Growth area will also be boosted by the expansion of the Thainstone
Business Park to create an agricultural hub for the whole City Region, and the
subsequent opportunities to move existing industrial and agricultural uses out of
Inverurie.

Page 42

3.33

3.35

The Strategic Growth Area is served by a dual carriageway to Aberdeen,
and the Scottish Government has committed to upgrading the A96 between
Aberdeen and Inverness over the lifetime of this Plan. The Aberdeenshire Local
Development Plan should explore opportunities for increasing active travel use
and connections to settlements through green networks along the A96 corridor.

3.36

The A96 dualling project is likely to provide for grade separated junctions,
including those at Inverurie, with options considered for bypassing the town.
Until this infrastructure is in place, development opportunities in this area will
likely be limited.

3.37

Significant phased improvements are also planned to the Aberdeen to Inverness
railway line, with more services, shorter journey times and further improvements
for a more local rail service. This will build on the opening of a new rail station at
Kintore.

18

Thainstone Agricultural Centre
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Figure 4:
Strategic Growth Area - Aberdeen to Huntly
Strategic Growth Areas
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Movement:
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Infrastructure:

1

High Voltage Energy Transmission Network Lines

Oldmeldrum
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Connections:

Inverurie
Newmachar
Kintore
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Kemnay Blackburn

Green Network Opportunities
Improved Cross Boundary Connections for Active Travel / Green Networks
Formartine & Buchan Way
River – Blue / Green Corridor
Walking / Active Travel Opportunities

Westhill

Aberdeen
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Strategic Growth Area: Aberdeen to Laurencekirk
We are proposing significant new development in the northern part of this
Strategic Growth Area early in the Plan period. A new settlement is already under
construction at Chapelton, and this has the potential to set a new placemaking
standard for future development in Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire and
beyond.

3.39

The opening of the Aberdeen Western Peripheral Route and the “Fastlink” will
enhance the desirability of many towns in this Strategic Growth Area, as these
locations become more accessible from destinations across the City Region.
Stonehaven, Portlethen, Chapleton and Newtonhill are towns which should see
particular benefits.

3.40

The City Region Deal’s Strategic Transport Appraisal will consider the need
for enhancements along the A90 to improve safety, reduce journey times and
increase resilience and competitiveness through greater connectivity. Towards
the southern end of this Strategic Growth Area, the Scottish Government has
already committed to provide £24 million for the design and construction of
a new grade-separated junction at Laurencekirk. This funding is in addition
to that already agreed through the City Region Deal. This junction will result
in significant benefits to Laurencekirk and the surrounding area (potentially
including parts of the area covered by the neighbouring TAYPlan Strategic
Development Plan to the south) and will help to “unlock” the development of
around 800 new homes around the town in the first period of this Plan.

3.41

The Scottish Government has also committed to reduced rail journey times to the
Central Belt during the first period of this Plan, and opportunities for enhanced
local rail services should also be investigated.

3.42

Opportunities for the provision and enhancement of active travel networks in
this Strategic Growth Area should be explored by the Aberdeenshire Local
Development Plan.
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3.38

20

Chapelton
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Figure 5:
Strategic Growth Area - Aberdeen to Laurencekirk
Strategic Growth Areas
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High Voltage Energy Transmission Network Lines
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Connections:
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Green Network Opportunities
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Walking / Active Travel Opportunities / Coastal Trail

3
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1
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Westhill
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Local Growth and Diversification Areas
3.43

Most of Aberdeenshire is identified in this Plan for Local Growth and
Diversification in order to recognise the vital role that these Areas play to the
Region’s economy. Within these Areas are many important assets to the City
Region and Scotland as a whole, providing areas of high environmental quality,
specialist employment areas, as well as significant opportunities for tourism
and outdoor recreation. These Areas also include an important supply of rich
agricultural land which is essential for food production.
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3.44

Fishing, farming and forestry are important sectors of the economy across the
Local Growth and Diversification Areas, however economic diversification and
growth is needed in order to meet local needs, with tourist-related developments
having an important role to play. Opportunities to service the renewable energy
industry will also be key to promote, develop and encourage.

3.45

Encouraging sustainable mixed communities and sustainable economic growth
will be an essential part of making sure the Local Growth and Diversification
Areas continue to contribute positively to the wider City Region. The scale and
level of opportunities for new growth will vary from place to place, with larger
towns such as Fraserburgh, Alford, Turriff, Banchory and Westhill being the main
focus for new investment. Levels of growth in individual settlements should
relate to local needs, with different places having different potential.

3.46

Across these Areas there will continue to be pressure for housing in the
countryside that is not connected to existing settlements. This pressure will be
dealt with through the Rural Policies of the Aberdeenshire Local Development
Plan, which should approach this by focusing new housing in, or as an extension
to, existing settlements, particularly those which are well served by public
transport. This will help to create and maintain successful and sustainable places
and protect agricultural land for food production.
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3.47

All development that meets more than local needs will generally be located
within the Strategic Growth Areas. However in some cases, development which
aims to meet more than local needs may be appropriate in the Local Growth and
Diversification Areas. In these cases, developers will need to justify this against
the vision, aims, strategy, and targets of this Plan. Meeting sustainable economic
or regeneration needs could be part of this justification.

3.48

Increasing tree cover (both community and commercial) can bring significant
environmental, economic, social and community benefits, particularly if new
planting respects the different functions of the land concerned and its role in
a wider green network. There is clear potential to increase tree cover across
Aberdeenshire while respecting the competing interests for land. This will
contribute to a wider Scottish Government target of increasing tree cover and
timber production, and recognising the role of woodland in mitigating climate
change.

Tractor ploughing field near Echt
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Macduff Harbour
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Regeneration
Regeneration is another vital part of the Spatial Strategy of this Plan. Positive
actions are needed to support ongoing efforts, such as through the Local
Outcome Improvement Plans, and will involve partnership working across the
public, private and voluntary sectors which should focus on achieving clear
results.

3.50

Although there are a number of individual, particularly rural, communities
across the City Region that could benefit from some type of regeneration, the
vibrant and inclusive northern coastal towns of Banff, Macduff, Fraserburgh
and Peterhead are specifically identified by this Strategic Development Plan as
priority areas. This will support Aberdeenshire Council’s wider strategy for these
North Coast Communities.

3.51

In this context, we need to improve road infrastructure and links to and from the
Northern Coastal Communities, in particular the A952 to Fraserburgh, the A90 to
Peterhead and the A947 to Banff and Macduff.

3.52

Local partnerships have already been established in each of the four priority
towns, and an individual Vision and Action Plan prepared for each. The
Aberdeenshire Local Development Plan should consider the Vision and Action
Plans for each of these towns when considering opportunities to focus growth
and new investment.

3.53

Although each town has its own individual priorities, common themes across
all are to diversify and grow the economy, build on local community spirit and
enhance feelings of a distinctive place, and to work together to become better
connected destinations.
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3.54

These towns have the benefit of an impressive coastal setting and rich maritime
history, and opportunities should be taken to make the most of this coastal
setting. Protecting and enhancing the significant natural and historic assets in
these towns will help to boost opportunities for tourism. The Formartine and
Buchan Way is one of ‘Scotland’s Great Trails’. It connects with these towns and
provides a key tourism opportunity.

3.55

The opportunities for harbours along the North Coast to play a vital role in
supplying services to offshore renewable energy facilities in the Moray Firth
should also be recognised, and proposals encouraged where appropriate.
Fraserburgh in particular has significant opportunities to support the delivery of
offshore windfarms in the Moray Firth.

3.56

The challenges and opportunities in these towns are wide-ranging and will
demand a response appropriate to their individual circumstances. Aberdeenshire
Council must do everything in its power to explore external funding opportunities
to bring about positive change. This change must bring lasting benefits and
have positive effects on vitality and viability of these towns. Improving the
economy, environmental quality, accessibility, employment opportunities and the
competitiveness of business should play an important role.
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4. Our Communities
Objective

4.5

It is important that new development meets the needs of the whole community,
including the specific needs of the Gypsy Traveller Community. With an ageing
population and smaller households, new development should also meet the
changing needs of society over its whole life and give regard to greater mix, size
and types of new homes. These are important considerations in terms of access
to facilities, but also the provision of appropriate supporting infrastructure such as
high-quality public and private amenity spaces. The provision of social care and
support homes in particular can play a vital role in the health and wellbeing of
communities by working to prevent fuel poverty and promote social inclusion.

4.6

Providing affordable housing is critical to delivering sustainable mixed
communities. Scottish Government affordable housing funding has increased
significantly over the period 2016 to 2020 to assist with meeting national
targets for the delivery of 50,000 affordable homes by 2021. This Plan assumes
that these funding levels will be maintained. There is, however, currently a
need for significantly more affordable housing in the City Region than there
is funding available. Meeting the targets in this Plan will need considerable
effort, coordination and creativity, and for the public and private sectors to work
together. Local Housing Strategies will consider in more detail how to provide
affordable housing, and the two Councils will progress their own programmes to
deliver more affordable and social housing in their areas.

To make sure that new development meets the needs of the whole community,
both now and in the future, and makes the City Region a more attractive and
sustainable place for residents and businesses to remain, grow and relocate to.
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Placemaking
4.1

To achieve our overall Vision we must set the highest standards for placemaking,
urban and rural design, promote a mix of land uses, use land more efficiently, and
prioritise the re-use of previously developed land and protect existing habitats.

4.2

Good, distinctive, resilient places can play a fundamental role in attracting
investment and supporting sustainable economic growth across the City Region.
Quality of environment and place provides a cornerstone for quality of life and
can promote a sense of identity.

4.3

Working with local people and community planning partners, we must focus on
creating sustainable and mixed communities. Retail, employment, education,
health, leisure, open space, transport and housing are all needed to create
successful places and must be considered holistically. The contribution of the
historic and natural environment must be properly recognised.

4.4

For this to be achieved, everyone involved in the process will need to show
a commitment to quality and set the highest standards, aiming always for
excellence. The Place Standard Tool is an effective tool to engage people
in conversations about what places should look like and should be utilised
wherever appropriate.
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4.7
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4.8

Communities must be mixed in terms of the type and size of homes, as well as
tenure and cost. We need to make sure that new homes are well designed and
that they respect local distinctiveness and promote and improve the existing
qualities of the area. Larger developments must provide a mix of house sizes,
from starter homes to large detached houses, and all developments must
consider opportunities to reduce fuel poverty and address the impact of climate
change. Developments should also make it easy for people to access green
and open space, including places where people can enjoy nature and take
advantage of opportunities for food growing, such as allotments and community
orchards.

Targets

Land brought forward for housing must be used efficiently, and brownfield sites
and regeneration areas should be given priority. Through this process, we should
create opportunities for new development that will close the gap between the
wealthiest and most disadvantaged areas of the City Region. Opportunities for
redeveloping brownfield sites will vary from place to place and over time but
need to be a clear priority.

•

To increase the range, quality and design of new development across the City
Region, in order to create better places.

•

For at least 40% of all new housing in Aberdeen City to be on brownfield sites.

•

In the Strategic Growth Areas, housing development on sites larger than one hectare
should generally have no less than 30 dwellings per hectare. In the Aberdeen
City Strategic Growth Area this target should increase to generally no less than 50
dwellings per hectare.

•

For new housing to meet the needs of the whole community by providing
appropriate levels of affordable housing (generally no more than 25%) and an
appropriate mix of types and sizes of homes.

How to Meet the Targets
•

Local Development Plans will take account of these targets when deciding how and
where to identify land for development.

•

Local design policies and guidance will emphasise the importance of ensuring high
quality architecture and urban and rural design in the delivery of great places.

•

The two Councils will consider innovative ways to ensure the delivery of affordable
housing in order to address the identified need. This could include the use of selfbuild plots.

Stoneywood Estate, Aberdeen
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Delivery of New Homes
The population of the City Region has been growing for a number of years and,
over the next 20 years, Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire are both projected to
have population increases above the overall Scottish growth rate. However, as
well as its total size, the age range of the population also presents challenges for
the years ahead, as not all age groups are projected to grow at the same rate.
For example, growth in the under 15 population is much stronger in Aberdeen
City whilst growth in the over 65 population is stronger in Aberdeenshire. This
will have a significant effect on the economy of the area in terms of the available
workforce, as well as the way in which services are provided.

4.12

A total Housing Land Requirement of just over 64,000 new homes over the
period to 2040 will make sure that sufficient land is available at a local level to
cope with higher levels of demand than we currently expect, without resulting in
an excess oversupply.

4.13

Both the Housing Supply Target and the Housing Land Requirement are informed
by previous Aberdeen City and Shire Housing Land Audits, and the figures set
are considered to be realistic and deliverable in terms of historic rates of delivery
and future anticipated growth, while remaining ambitious.

4.10

Table 1 illustrates the Housing Supply Target for the City Region, as informed by
the Principal Scenario from the Housing Needs and Demand Assessment 2017.
The Housing Supply Target is divided into Market and Affordable Sectors, and
is divided for each Council and Housing Market Area. The total Housing Supply
Target identifies a need for approximately 55,000 new homes over the period to
2040.

4.14

Housing Land Audit data indicates that there is sufficient housing land already
available to meet this Housing Land Requirement for both the Aberdeen and
Rural Housing Market Areas for the period 2020 to 2032 at current rates of
completion. This is a result of the considerable allocations made under the
Housing Land Requirements of the Aberdeen City and Shire Structure Plan 2009
and the Strategic Development Plan 2014.

4.11

The Housing Land Requirement, Table 2, sets out a generous level of housing
land to try and ensure that the Housing Supply Target can be met. An increase
to the Housing Supply Target of 10% “generosity” is focussed on the 2016 to
2019 period with 20% applied for the period 2020 to 2032 to cover the next
Local Development Plans. This will provide a generous land supply without
compromising the viability of allocated sites or undermining existing allocations.
In the period 2033 to 2040 a 10% “generosity” level has been added. The
allowances for this period are indicative and will be subject to future review.

4.15

As such, it is possible that no further housing land allocations could be made
for the next Local Development Plans. However; a considerable proportion of
current allocations are strategic allocations, and if any of these sites failed to
come forward, there is a risk that the housing land supply may not be maintained.
As such, additional allocations are proposed over the period 2020 to 2032, with
a Strategic Reserve of housing land that may be identified for the period 2033 to
2040.

4.9
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Table 1:
Housing Supply Target by Housing Market Area, Local Authority and Tenure Mix
2016 - 2019

2020 - 2032

2033 - 2040

2016 - 2040

Affordable

Market

Total

Affordable

Market

Total

Affordable

Market

Total

Global Total

2,050

3,800

5,850

8,008

14,872

22,880

5,242

9,734

14,976

43,706

Rural Housing Market
Area

680

1,270

1,950

2,002

3,718

5,720

1,310

2,434

3,744

11,414

Aberdeen City
Council

1,365

2,535

3,900

5,005

9,295

14,300

3,276

6,084

9,360

27,560

Aberdeenshire Council

1,365

2,535

3,900

5,005

9,295

14,300

3,276

6,084

9,360

27,560

Aberdeen City
and Shire

2,730

5,070

7,800

10,010

18,590

28,600

6,552

12,168

18,720

55,120

Aberdeen Housing
Market Area

Total
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Note - components may not sum to totals due to rounding.
Table 2:
Housing Land Requirement by Housing Market Area, Local Authority and Tenure Mix
2016 - 2019

2020 - 2032

2033 - 2040

2016 - 2040

Affordable

Market

Total

Affordable

Market

Total

Affordable

Market

Total

Global Total

2,256

4,180

6,436

9,610

17,846

27,456

5,766

10,708

16,474

50,366

Rural Housing
Market Area

748

1,396

2,144

2,402

4,462

6,864

1,442

2,676

4,118

13,126

Aberdeen City
Council

1,502

2,788

4,290

6,006

11,154

17,160

3,604

6,692

10,296

31,746

Aberdeenshire Council

1,502

2,788

4,290

6,006

11,154

17,160

3,604

6,692

10,296

31,746

Aberdeen City
and Shire

3,004

5,576

8,580

12,012

22,308

34,320

7,208

13,384

20,592

63,492

Aberdeen Housing
Market Area

Total

Note - components may not sum to totals due to rounding.
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Table 3:
Local Development Plan Housing Allowances
Housing Supply

Allowances

Housing Supply
2016 - 2032 *1

Housing Supply
2032 - 2040 *2

Housing Allowances
2020 - 2032

Housing Allowances
2033 - 2035

Housing Allowances
2036 - 2040

Total Allowances

26,325

2,767

8,172

7,200

6,402

21,774

Rural Housing Market Area

6,361

821

2,042

1,800

1,602

5,444

Aberdeen City Council

16,719

1,733

5,107

4,500

4,002

13,609

Aberdeenshire Council

15,967

1,855

5,107

4,500

4,002

13,609

Totals

32,686

3,588

10,214

9,000

8,004

27,218
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Aberdeen Housing
Market Area

36,274
Housing Land Requirement

27,218
63,492

*Comprising completions 2016-2018 (6,223); effective supply 2019-2023 (13,067); programming of sites 2024 to 2026 (5,876); and extrapolated programming 2027 to 2032 (7,520)
all based on the agreed 2019 housing land audit.
*2 Compiled from extrapolated programming from the agreed 2019 housing land audit.
Note – components may not sum to totals due to rounding. Allowances will not include sites of less than 5 homes.
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4.16

In order to support sustainable communities, the best use of infrastructure, and
increased levels of housing delivery, these allocations are divided on an 80% /
20% basis between the Aberdeen Housing Market Area and the Rural Housing
Market Area respectively.

4.17

It is important that the scale of these allocations does not undermine the
deliverability and viability of the effective housing land supply. As such, the 2020
to 2032 period makes provision for moderate allocations, with levels increasing
in the second half of the Plan period as the effective supply is delivered and
additional housing land supply is required.

4.18

Local Development Plans must identify allocations for the period 2020 to 2032
which are deliverable within the timeframe of this period. These allocations
should be focused within the Strategic Growth Areas, but ensure appropriate
levels of local growth can be provided across the rest of City Region, with a
specific focus on those towns named by this Plan as Regeneration Priority
Areas (Banff, Macduff, Fraserburgh and Peterhead). New allocations should
consider opportunities to reuse brownfield land and attempt to utilise the current
“constrained” supply in the first instance. However; it is likely that some new
development will need to take place on greenfield sites in order to help deliver
our Vision and future strategy for growth. Reducing travel distances and making
walking, cycling and public transport more attractive to people will be important
considerations, particularly for any new greenfield development sites that are
proposed.

4.19

Allocations should be of a scale which would not inhibit the delivery of current
strategic allocations and should not be extensions to any existing, strategic,
development sites that have been subject to a masterplanning exercise. It will
be up to the Local Development Plans to determine whether a proposal is “small
scale” or not, giving due regard to its context and deliverability. Additionally, the
affordable requirements of these allocations should be delivered in the early
stages of development.
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4.20

Local Development Plans may choose to make provision for additional Strategic
Reserves for Housing for the period 2033 to 2040 in line with Table 3, but this is
not a requirement.

4.21

In exceptional circumstances, for example if it is essential to put this Plan’s Vision
or Spatial Strategy into practice, planning applications for planning permission
may be considered before 2033 on land identified as Strategic Reserve for
Housing. Both the Strategic Development Planning Authority and the relevant
Council should seek to agree to any such proposal before permission is granted.
Any permission may have conditions which control the rate of development.

Targets
•

For Local Developments Plans to maintain a 5-year supply of effective land for
housing at all times.

How to Meet the Targets
•
•

Both Councils will make land available for housing through Local Development
Plans in line with the Spatial Strategy and Table 3 of this Plan.
Where necessary, Action Programmes, developer contributions and compulsory
purchase powers should be used to focus attention on delivering new housing
development and the associated necessary infrastructure.
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Figure 6:
Housing Market Areas

Strategic Growth Areas

Aberdeen Housing Market Area (80%)

Trunk Roads

Local Growth and Diversification Areas

Regeneration Priority Area

Rural Housing Market Area (20%)

Fraserburgh

Banff Macduff

20%
Turriff

Peterhead

Huntly
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Ellon

Inverurie
80%
Alford
Westhill

Aberdeen

Banchory
Stonehaven
Laurencekirk
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5. Our Economy
Objective

5.4

The Tourism Destination Strategy for Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire (20182023) set an ambition to grow visitor spend in the City Region to £1 billion per
year by 2023. Significant opportunities exist to further grow this sector, including
more short breaks, active holidays, converting business visitors to leisure visitors,
extending overnight stays and capitalising on direct flights from Aberdeen
International Airport to the rest of the United Kingdom and Europe.

5.5

Local Development Plans should consider opportunities to ensure the importance
of sustainable tourism to the regional economy is properly recognised and
safeguarded. The importance that the historic and natural environment makes to
sustainable tourism must also, however, be properly recognised.

To provide opportunities which encourage sustainable economic growth and
create new employment in a range of areas that are both appropriate for, and
attractive to, the needs of different industries, while at the same time improving
the essential strategic infrastructure necessary to allow the City Region
economy to grow over the long term.
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5.1

To promote a diverse regional economy we will have to build on our existing
assets, particularly in the field of innovative energy, and put into practice new
ideas, including those from our universities, research organisations and our
skilled workforce. We also need to improve our connections through upgrades
to our transport and high speed digital communications networks.

5.2

A Regional Economic Strategy sets out a vision for the economic future of the
City Region for the next 20 years. The ambition of the Strategy is to build upon
the reputation of the area as an international operations base for oil and gas and
to become a world-leading offshore technology base. The Strategy supports a
broadening and diversification of our economy across other sectors – including
renewables, tourism, food and drink, fisheries, agriculture, life sciences and the
creative industries.

Tourism
5.3

34

Tourism is a key sector of the economy, and 1 in 10 of Scottish tourism jobs are
based in the City Region. In order to support the sustainable growth of the visitor
economy, specific support is given by this Plan to protecting and enhancing
existing nationally and regionally important locations for tourism and recreational
development.

Prime Four, Kingswells
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Town Centre First

Land for Business

5.6

5.9

Making sure that there is enough of the right type of land for business use, in the
right places, will give the City Region a competitive advantage.

5.10

Table 4 sets out the existing Employment Land Allocations for the area. These
allocations will allow for an appropriate range of locations for business clusters
to be provided throughout the Strategic Growth Areas, whilst also encouraging
economic development in the Local Growth and Diversification Areas at
appropriate levels to meet local need.

5.11

In order to ensure we can plan for growth, Local Development Plans should
ensure that Strategic Reserve Land for Employment is provided in line with the
allocations set in Tables 4 and 5. In exceptional circumstances, for example if it
is essential to put this Plan’s Vision or Spatial Strategy into practice, applications
for planning permission may be considered before 2033 on land identified
as Strategic Reserve for Employment. This will ensure that the supply of
employment land can be flexible to future changing economic circumstances.
Both the Strategic Development Planning Authority and the relevant Council
should seek to agree to any such proposal before permission is granted. Any
permission may have conditions which control the rate of development.

5.12

Where new development is proposed adjacent to Employment Land Allocations,
the potential impact of that development on existing or future nearby uses must
be considered, as well as the potential impact of those existing uses on the new
development.

The Town Centre First Principle should be applied when considering significant
proposals for retail, commercial leisure, offices and for community and cultural
facilities. It is important that retail services throughout the City Region are
directed to guarantee the vitality and viability of our town centres, while creating
opportunities for growth in the economy. It is particularly important that we
continue to support the transformation of Aberdeen City Centre, and make
sure that this key regional asset fulfils its potential. Local development plans
will identify a network of centres, which is likely to include the city centre, town
centres, local centres and commercial centres and be organised as a hierarchy.

Decommissioning
5.7

Building on the opening of the National Decommissioning Centre of Excellence
in Newburgh, there will be opportunities for different levels and types of
decommissioning across the City Region in order to enhance the onshore
decommissioning market. This will include opportunities for decommissioning of
renewable energy infrastructure, for example wind turbines, as well as North Sea
Infrastructure related to oil and gas.

5.8

The treatment, storage, management and export of decommissioned waste
materials, and proposals which allow the reuse of these materials should be
encouraged in appropriate locations where residential amenity can be protected.
It will also be important to ensure that appropriate proposals for business and
office space can be accommodated to allow decommissioning projects to be
effectively managed.
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Targets
To make sure there is at least 60 hectares of marketable land available to
businesses at all times in a range of locations within Aberdeen City.

•

To make sure there is at least 60 hectares of marketable land available to
businesses at all times in a range of places within Strategic Growth Areas in
Aberdeenshire.

•

For at least 20 hectares of marketable land in the Strategic Growth Areas to be of
a standard which will attract high-quality businesses or be suitable for company
headquarters.

Encourage opportunities for home-working, live-work units, micro businesses and
community hubs.
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•

•

How to Meet the Targets
•

Local Development Plans must where practicable protect all Employment Land
Allocations from other uses.

•

Local Development Plans should identify and maintain an appropriate amount of
business land for Local Growth and Diversification Areas in Aberdeenshire.

•

Both Councils should work in partnership with universities, colleges and other
research organisations to help them make as positive a contribution as possible to
the area.

•

Where appropriate, Action Programmes should be used to identify and co-ordinate
the actions needed to make land allocations available to business in line with the
Spatial Strategy.

36
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Table 4:
Employment Land Allocations (all hectares)
Established Land 2016 *

Marketable Land
2016 *

Minimum Land
Available At All Times

Local Development Plan
Allocations to 2032

Strategic Reserve Land
2033 - 2040

Aberdeen City
Council

269

205

60

105

70

Aberdeenshire Council

558

341

60

150

113

Aberdeen City
and Shire

827

546

120

255

183

Total

* Taken from Aberdeen City and Shire Employment Land Audit 2015-2016
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Table 5:
Employment Land Allocations by Strategic Growth Area (SGA) (all hectares)
Local Development Plan Allocations to
2032

Strategic Reserve Land
2033 - 2040

Total

Aberdeen City SGA

105

70

175

Aberdeen to Peterhead SGA
(Blackdog – Peterhead)

45

43

88

Aberdeen to Huntly SGA
(Blackburn - Huntly)

42

28

70

Aberdeen to Laurencekirk SGA
(Portlethen – Laurencekirk)

62

42

104

254

183

437

Aberdeen City and Shire

Total
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6. Our Resources
Flooding, Water Supply and the Coast

•

To make sure new development safeguards and, where appropriate,
enhances the City Region’s historic, natural and cultural assets and is within
the capacity of the environment.

6.3

•

To be a City Region which:

Areas of Aberdeen and Aberdeenshire are already at risk from flooding
and storm surges, but increased risk is expected due to changing and more
unpredictable weather patterns, extreme weather events and rising sea levels.
Development which avoids areas of flood risk and which improves surface water
management will be important in adapting to climate change. Local Development
Plans should consider ways to ensure new development can be appropriately
“future-proofed” to take into account climate change effects relating to extreme
weather. Both Councils will need to work together to deliver a coordinated
approach to flood prevention.

6.4

We will need to monitor and take account of the scale of these changes. We will
also need to continue to develop adaptation strategies as we consider how and
where new developments should be built. River Basin Management Planning
at the catchment level should consider strategic options for improved surface
water management that contributes to wildlife and ecology, while delivering
opportunities to balance surface water flows and provide recharge for rivers and
wetlands that may be under environmental pressure.

6.5

Not all water bodies in the City Region currently meet the quality standards
required under the European Union Water Framework Directive. River Basin
Management Plans promote improvements to water bodies not currently meeting
the standards of the Directive, as well as to help maintain the quality of those
that currently do. New development should not adversely impact on water
quality either during construction or at operational phase. Wherever possible
new development should contribute to developing and enhancing blue / green
networks and habitat improvement.
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Objective

-

takes the lead in reducing the amount of emissions and pollutants
released into the environment;

-

mitigates and adapts to the effects of climate change and changing
weather patterns;

		
- limits the amount of non-renewable resources it uses; and,
-

Supports and protects our biodiversity.

Quality of the Environment
6.1

6.2

38

The historic and natural environment is a valuable resource which needs to
be protected. Ensuring only appropriate sites are promoted and supported for
development, and that only high-quality design is accepted, will make sure that
development safeguards and, where appropriate, enhances the historic, natural
and cultural assets that the City Region has to offer.
The important contribution that trees make, whether as natural landscape
features, designed landscapes or recreational facilities, cannot be
underestimated. Trees provide a valuable ecological resource, as well as a
significant contribution to the City Region economy. Trees, forest and woodland
cover should be protected and increased where possible. It is particularly
important to protect native and ancient semi-natural woodlands and support their
restoration.
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Aberdeen Bay, European OffshoreFootdee
Wind Deployment
Beach, Aberdeen
Centre
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6.6

Page 64
6.7

The River Dee is an important environmental as well as economic asset, as well
as being the region’s main source of drinking water. It is designated a Special
Area of Conservation reflecting its environmental importance. This resource
is under pressure and, as a result, managing the use of water and increasing
water efficiency is vital. During and beyond the period of this Plan, the effects of
climate change and increasing water demand from development may affect the
river. Both Councils will need to work together to reduce impacts on the River
Dee. Appropriate mitigation and adaptation measures will have to be taken to
deal with this matter. Any variation of the water abstraction licence would be the
responsibility of the Scottish Environment Protection Agency.
The City Region is home to an extensive coastline which contributes to the
regional economy and provides a significant environmental resource. The marine
environment is, and will continue to be, important to the economy and much of
our coast and inshore waters are important nationally and internationally for their
nature conservation value. Increased coastal erosion, the undermining of the
land edge, and sea level rises all make the coast more vulnerable to potential
dramatic change. For developments that may require a coastal location, the
impact on coastal defences and the natural environment will be critical issues
to be considered. For the city region there is proposed to be two regional
marine partnerships to cover the marine areas of Aberdeenshire and Aberdeen
City, but they have not been established yet. The regional marine partnership
work is intended to take forward the National Marine Plan and allow more local
ownership and decision-making about specific issues within their respective
areas.

internationally, nationally or locally designated areas. Biodiversity and the natural
environment also underpin much of the City Region’s rural economy, as well as
the quality of life of its communities.
6.9

The green belt around Aberdeen will continue to protect the character and
landscape setting of the City and make sure that development is directed
to appropriate locations. It will do so whilst protecting the most important
undeveloped areas that contribute to the environment and provide the City with
its setting. The green belt is an area that should be positively planned for, and
involve integration of approach across Council boundaries. Local Development
Plans should promote recreational access, landscape improvement and habitat
enhancement within green belt areas and beyond.

6.10

Green infrastructure provides many key environmental services (such as water
management, climate change adaptation, habitats, and quality of life and place)
as well as recreational opportunities for local communities and associated
benefits to health and well-being.

6.11

Green networks connect elements of green infrastructure within and between
our towns, villages and cities. Well designed and well located green networks
are fundamental to creating sustainable healthy and accessible places, and often
serve as active travel routes. Local Development Plans will play a key role in
identifying existing and proposing new green networks and, where appropriate,
considering enhancement and implementation opportunities, including through
new development.

Green Belt and Green Networks

Heritage Assets

6.8

6.12

40

Biodiversity, wildlife habitats and landscape can be vulnerable to the effects
of new development. When considering the location and design of new
development, we need to focus on protecting and enhancing key features as
well as ensuring habitat connectivity. Most importantly, we need to make sure
there are no unacceptable adverse effects from proposed development on

Structures, sites and areas and their appropriate settings are valued for their
contribution to the historic environment, they also contribute to a sense of
place, the economy and the natural environment and should be protected from
unacceptable impacts of development.
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Sustainable Development and Climate Change
6.13

Page 65

6.14

6.15

Delivering sustainable development and responding to climate change are some
of the most serious challenges we will face over the period covered by this Plan.
Reducing the causes of climate change (known as mitigation) will be important.
However, due to current and past actions, it is also important to put in place a
number of measures to address the consequences of climate change as well
(known as adaptation).
To help mitigate climate change, the energy efficiency of buildings needs to
be improved in existing as well as new development. All new developments
must be designed and built to use resources more efficiently and be located
in places with as little negative effect on the environment as possible. Along
with increasing the use of renewables, focusing on a fabric first approach and
energy-efficiency measures to reduce the demand for energy and improve water
efficiency, will be an early step towards achieving carbon-neutral development
in the near future. Developments should examine the potential for including, or
linking to, combined heat and power schemes or district or community heating
schemes, and also ensure the incorporation of low and zero carbon generating
technologies wherever appropriate.
We will also need to tackle the supply of energy during the Plan period. This
will involve increasing the supply of heat and power from renewable sources,
as well as supporting reduced emissions from existing power stations. There
remains some additional capacity for onshore wind, and there is still considerable
potential in offshore renewables yet to be realised. This is in addition to
opportunities for energy from waste, solar and biomass, as well as ground, water
and air source heat pumps. Figure 7 identifies, at a strategic scale, areas with
potential for onshore wind farms. Local development plans will provide detailed
spatial frameworks indicating the minimum scale to which the framework relates
and provide criteria to assess wind energy proposals.
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6.16

A more diverse mix of renewable energy sources, along with storage, will be
needed if we are to meet Scottish Government renewables targets, make
best use of the resources available, and ensure continuity of supply to serve
communities and businesses across the City Region. This will mean upgrading
key North-East and East Coast electricity transmission lines from 275 kilovolts to
400 kilovolts.

6.17

The City Region also remains committed to Carbon Capture and Storage and
the development of hydrogen opportunities, both to maximise the benefits from
existing energy resources and energy infrastructure available.

6.18

In terms of waste, our objective is to meet our waste-management needs locally
as far as possible and promote the development of a circular economy. This will
make sure that the economic, social and environmental value from managing
this important resource is kept in the local area, and the environmental costs of
transport are kept to a minimum. An Energy from Waste facility is committed for
East Altens in Aberdeen, and this will serve the whole City Region.

6.19

While there is no overall need for new landfill space in the Plan area, we may
need time extensions at some existing sites to make sure we maintain capacity,
make the best use of sites, and restore redundant sites to the highest standards.
We should do this while taking into account the effect on communities and the
legitimate concerns of residents close to such facilities.

6.20 Construction materials, such as sand and gravel and hard rock, are important to
the construction industry and ensuring there is a sufficient supply is important.
Where this supply is in proximity to development this reduces transport haulage
distances and costs, both carbon and environmental. It is also important to
achieve recycling of secondary aggregate (materials from redundant built
structures) wherever feasible, for example when the conversion of traditional
buildings is not possible. Where materials are available or capable of being
made available for re-use, then re-use should be a priority. Recycling of buildings
and materials can make a significant contribution to sustainable development and
reduce waste.
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6.21
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Sufficient hard rock aggregate is available across the region with sites identified
in local development plans. The position regarding sand and gravel is less
clear as availability of sites, demand and the monitoring of use for any large
infrastructure project is less easy to gauge. There are also opportunities for
recycling of secondary aggregate. Policy should be put in place in the local
development plans to allow supplies of construction aggregates to be made
available within the plan area to support the development needs of the city
region over the plan period. Local development plans should also identify areas
of search for minerals and safeguard where practicable all workable mineral
resources which are of economic or conservation value and ensure that these
are not sterilised by other development. As an alternative, a criteria based
approach may be taken.

Targets
•

To make sure that development safeguards and, where appropriate, enhances, the
City Region’s historic and natural environment, and that development will not lead to
its loss or damage.

•

To avoid new development where it would prevent water bodies achieving good
overall status under the Water Framework Directive.

•

To avoid having to increase the amount of water Scottish Water are licensed to take
from the River Dee, as a result of the new developments proposed in the Plan.

•

For all new developments to be designed to minimise resource demand and
incorporate water and energy efficiency measures.

•

To reduce waste going to landfill and support the provision of waste treatment
facilities and the recycling of waste.
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How to Meet the Targets
•
Local Development Plans will make sure the City Region’s historic and natural
environment continues to be protected and improved and that all internationally,
nationally and locally designated areas are afforded the appropriate protection.
•
Both Councils will take part in the River Basin Management Planning process,
particularly as it relates to new development.
•
Local Development Plans should take due regard of the Strategic Flood
Risk Assessment which accompanies this Plan and not identify sites for new
development which are at an unacceptable risk from flooding. This may exclude
brownfield sites which have appropriate flood prevention measures in place.
Unacceptable risk will normally be more than a 1 in 200 (0.5%) chance of a flood
happening in any year, although this will vary with the type of development being
proposed.
•
Both Councils will protect and enhance biodiversity, wildlife habitats, landscape,
green and water networks and other sensitive areas, and prevent habitat
fragmentation, in identifying land for development, preparing masterplans and
assessing development proposals.
•
Local Development Plans will identify existing and proposed green networks
and, where possible, identify opportunities for enhancement and priorities for
implementation.
•
Both Councils will work with Scottish Natural Heritage, the Scottish Environment
Protection Agency, Scottish Water and other stakeholders to better understand
the likely medium to long-term effects of climate change in combination with
proposed development on the River Dee and the mitigation or adaptation
measures that may be required to ensure the river is restored to good status.
•
Local Development Plans and masterplans will identify areas where technology
can potentially contribute to the supply of renewable energy along with the
potential opportunity to use residual or waste heat.
•
Both Councils should use masterplans to consider the scope of combined heat
and power and district heating schemes to contribute towards using energy more
efficiently and in reducing the amount of energy used overall.
•
The Councils should work together to identify and put in place appropriate
residual waste management solutions.
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Figure 7:
Spatial Framework for Wind Farms over 15 metres in height
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Group 1 Areas where Wind farms will
not be acceptable:
National Parks and National
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7. Our Connections
Objective

7.4

Walking and cycling are the most environmentally friendly forms of transport
and should be encouraged as a way to achieve important health, social and
environmental benefits. The Plan will help ensure sustainable land use patterns
to reduce the need to travel and promote improved connections between both
local and strategic active travel networks and public transport.

7.5

Improving access to the City Region is also essential to developing a
strong economy and providing better links. The Spatial Strategy promotes
opportunities at harbours and the airport. Continued improvements at Aberdeen
International Airport form part of a wider National Development for Strategic
Airport Enhancements across Scotland, and are needed to improve customer
experience and increase the number of travellers, while keeping the effect on the
environment to a minimum. Access to the Airport also needs to be improved, and
this should be developed through a Surface Access Strategy to encourage better
use of public transport.

7.6

The Spatial Strategy also helps to promote accessibility by making sure that
future development allows for improvements in the rail and road networks. This
will help to improve bus and train services and encourage people to use them.

7.7

A Cumulative Transport Appraisal supports this Plan and identifies interventions
to support our growth aspirations. These are set out in Schedule 1. When
planning for future transport networks and upgrades, the opportunity to plan for
and incorporate other infrastructure improvements (for example utilities, digital
connections, waste water systems, sewers) should be considered holistically.

To make sure that all new developments contribute towards reducing the need
to travel long distances and encourage people to walk, cycle or use public
transport by making these attractive options.
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Transport
7.1

Good connections are critical for the future health of the City Region’s economy.
Aberdeen International Airport and the region’s main ports are key gateways and
have a vital role to play in accessing international markets as well as providing
lifeline services to Orkney and Shetland. It is vital that these important regional
assets are supported in meeting their potential for the regional economy, and that
they reflect the Vision for the area.

7.2

Future development should not be allowed to limit the growth of the economy
by making the City Region less attractive to business, particularly in relation
to congestion and access to roads, ports, airports and rail facilities. This
infrastructure needs to be protected and improved, including, where appropriate,
supporting freight being transported by rail and sea.

7.3
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This Plan will help to promote the link between land use and transport to make
sure that all new development is conveniently located and designed in such a
way as to encourage walking, cycling and the use of public transport. Improving
bus and train services and maximising the opportunities for charging and
refuelling network for electric and hydrogen vehicles will make sure that people
will be encouraged to use more environmentally friendly forms of transport and
secure the City Region as a world leader in transport and energy technologies.
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Digital
7.8
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As the first city in Scotland to benefit from Gigabit-capable full-fibre broadband,
Aberdeen is set to become a beacon of digital transformation throughout
the life of this Plan. The roll-out of high-gigabit speed broadband throughout
the area is vital for the economy as well as bringing environmental and social
benefits. Internet access and significantly improved speeds are essential in both
the Strategic Growth Areas and the Local Growth and Diversification Areas.
The public and private sectors will need to work together to deliver these
improvements.

Energy
7.9

7.10

With energy continuing to play a significant role to the economy, energy
connections to and from the City Region are important. Energy network
improvements are proposed for both on and offshore. The upgrading of the
North-East and East Coast electricity transmission lines traverses the City Region
from Kintore substation (with connection from the new Rothienorman substation)
via Fetteresso substation and southwards towards Central Scotland.
The volumes of electricity likely to be generated within the City Region also
means that new offshore transmission links will also be required. Peterhead will
act as a main transmission hub in order to balance renewable energy generation
and overcome the intermittency challenges associated with the widespread use
of wind energy.
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Targets
• For all developments to meet the accessibility standards set out in the Regional and
Local Transport Strategies.
•

For major employment and service developments in Strategic Growth Areas to
show that they are easy to access by walking, cycling or using public transport. The
interventions listed in Schedule 1 will be considered through Local and Regional
Transport Strategies subject to their appropriate appraisal, review, development and
programming, and included in local development plans as appropriate.

•

To reduce the percentage of journeys made by car.

•

For all new development to have the use of modern, up-to-date high-gigabit speed
telecommunications networks, such as fibre optics.

How to Meet the Targets
• The Councils will work with Nestrans to make sure that the implementation of this
Strategic Development Plan closely links with the Regional Transport Strategy, the
Active Travel Action Plan and the implementation of local active travel routes.
•

Local Development Plans will safeguard land for transport proposals identified in the
Local and Regional Transport Strategies.

•

The Spatial Strategy will direct development to areas that can be accessed by a
greater choice of more environmentally friendly forms of transport.

•

Both Councils will keep under review Core Path Plans, taking due account of where
new developments will take place and issues which affect both Council areas and
cross-boundary links.

•

Local Development Plan policies will ensure the design and layout of new
developments are easily accessed and promote movement within, and links outwith,
for walking, cycling and public transport.

•

Local Development Plans will consider appropriate ways to encourage the use of
modern telecommunications networks in major new developments.
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8. Our Future – How this Plan Can Make a Difference
8.1

8.2

This Plan provides a Vision to develop the economy, maintain and improve
the quality of our environment, and provide better places and a high quality of
life. The scale of the changes needed, and the challenges set by the Vision,
especially in relation to sustainable development and climate change, should not
be underestimated.
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This Plan sets the framework for other plans and strategies and promotes targets
to achieve our aims. Regional and partnership working between the public
and private sectors will be essential to put this Plan into practice. One of the
main ways of doing so will be through the Local Development Plans prepared
separately by Aberdeen City Council and Aberdeenshire Council, which must be
consistent with this Plan.

8.3

However, Local Development Plans do not have the long-term vision of the
Strategic Development Plan, and there may be actions that need to be taken now
to allow proposals to be included in future Local Development Plans. We have
therefore developed an Action Programme to support this Plan.

8.4

The Action Programme identifies who is to take action, when this will need
to happen, and how it will be funded and delivered. This will give people the
confidence to make decisions on investment. The Action Programme will be
monitored and reviewed regularly.

8.5

We have carried out a Strategic Flood Risk Assessment, Strategic Environmental
Assessment and a Habitats Regulations Appraisal for this Plan. However, both
Councils will have to carry out more detailed assessments for Local Development
Plans to demonstrate no adverse effect on the integrity of any internationally,
nationally or locally designated areas. The Habitats Regulations Appraisal of this
Plan contains safeguards which will need to be applied at that stage.
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Monitoring and Reviewing this Plan
8.6

We recognise that things will change over time, both in response to the direction
this Plan promotes and events we are not able to predict. Monitoring must take
place to assess our progress in meeting the Plan’s objectives and ultimately, the
Vision. We will produce a Monitoring Report to assess our progress in meeting
the targets set by this Plan.

8.7

A particularly important part of this review will be to ensure the continued
success of the Spatial Strategy. This should include consideration of whether
changes to the extents of the existing Strategic Growth Areas are required, or
if any new locations for growth should be designated in the future, for example
in the corridor west of Aberdeen. Over the next five years a range of studies
will be undertaken in order to explore whether any amendments to the existing
Spatial Strategy will be necessary, and this will include studies on the impact
of the Aberdeen Western Peripheral Route on travel patterns across the City
Region. The interventions listed in Schedule 1 shall continue to be reviewed,
appropriately appraised, developed and programmed in association with the
Regional Transport Strategy, the Local Development Plans, and other delivery
mechanisms.
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Schedule 1
Summary of Transport Intervention Options (Road, Public Transport and Active Travel)
The table below summarises the transport interventions identified by a Cumulative Transport Appraisal that to mitigate predicted transport impacts and help accommodate the
delivery of the Strategic Development Plan. These options relate to a sifted ‘long list’ of interventions that were considered at a high level in relation to their ability to potentially
meet the relevant transport planning objectives (as identified within the Cumulative Transport Appraisal) and in terms of deliverability. Transport options include a range of public
transport, active travel, road and multimodal interventions. The appraisal work undertaken to date has been proportionate and based on the approach outlined within Transport
Scotland’s Development Planning and Management Transport Appraisal Guidance (DPMTAG). The proposed interventions listed in this schedule will require further appropriate
appraisal and review but are, at this stage, required to assist the delivery of the spatial strategy.
Summary of Transport Intervention Options
Enhanced bus service provision through developing cross city bus services, bus stop review and optimisation of services with new bus priority infrastructure
Additional rail station car parking capacity at Dyce, Stonehaven, Portlethen, Laurencekirk and Huntly Rail Stations.
Improved interchange at Inverurie Station
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Potential new rail stations to the north and south of Aberdeen which will be required to be considered through the STAG appraisal process and in accordance with rail
station investment guidance
Range of active travel infrastructure initiatives improving accessibility
Package of behavioural change initiatives encouraging car-sharing, public transport use and active travel
Optimisation of the performance of the network and new transport investments following the monitoring and evaluation of post-AWPR travel conditions
Road traffic signalisation or equivalent capacity enhancement measures at AWPR Cleanhill, A944, A947 and Kingswells North intersections to be considered following
monitoring and evaluation period and through further detailed traffic assessment
Aberdeen City Centre
Road Junction and operational efficiency
enhancements

Urban Corridors

Rural Corridors
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Wellington Road, Persley Bridge & Parkway, Parkhill, A96, Dyce Drive, and Bridge of
Dee corridors
A90 North Toll of Birness/Ellon, A90 South and A947 corridors
Dualling the A96 between the east of Huntly and Aberdeen
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Glossary
Action Programme
Documents that set out what needs to be done to put the Development Plan into
practice. They show important dates and who is responsible for each action.
Active Travel
An approach to travel that focuses on physical activity such as walking and cycling.
Adaptation
Action to limit how exposed the environment and people are to the effects of climate
change.
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Adjacent to the Aberdeen Western Peripheral Route
Land next to or adjoining the Aberdeen Western Peripheral Route or that may be
required for future improvements to the main line of the road, or any of the junctions,
within the life of this Plan. Where developments are brought forward that are either
adjacent to or have the potential to negatively impact upon the capacity of the
Aberdeen Western Peripheral Route and / or its junctions, then said development will be
required to be assessed in line with the requirements set out by Transport Scotland.
Affordable Housing
Housing which is made available at a cost below full market value to meet an identified
need.
Allocations
Areas of land identified in a Local Development Plan for development.
Biodiversity
The range and diversity of ecosystems; plants, animals, species and genes, and the
ecological processes that support them.
Blue Growth
A strategy to support sustainable growth in the marine and maritime sectors.
Brownfield Land
Land which has been built on or used in the past for some purpose. Brownfield land
does not include private or public gardens, sports pitches, woodlands or open spaces
used for leisure and recreation purposes. The grounds of redundant institutions (such as
schools or hospitals) shall also not be considered as brownfield land.
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City Region Deal
City Region Deals are agreements between the Scottish Government, the United
Kingdom Government and Local Government designed to bring about long-term
strategic approaches to improving regional economies. Each deal is tailored to its City
Region, reflecting its individual economic strengths and weaknesses, and comprises a
programme of interventions to support positive, transformative change.
Circular Economy
An all-encompassing approach to life and business where everything has value, and
nothing is wasted. In simple terms, it can be explained as “make, use, remake” as
opposed to “make, use, dispose.”
Climate Change
A large-scale, long-term shift in the planet’s weather patterns and average temperatures.
Compulsory Purchase Powers / Order
Notice issued by the Government or Council to acquire land or buildings for public
interest purposes. This may include property to enable private development to achieve
a priority aim of the Development Plan.
Constrained Housing Land Supply
Sites or parts of sites which have problems preventing their development.
Development Plan
A generic term for the Strategic Development Plan and/or Local Development Plan,
which apply to a planning authority area. Any planning application should be determined
in accordance with the Development Plan unless material considerations indicate
otherwise.
Diversify
Increase the range of sectors of the economy to reduce the risk of relying too much on
any one sector.
Dwellings per Hectare
The number of homes that are built on a single hectare of land.
Effective Housing Land Supply
The part of the total Housing Land Supply (sites that are allocated or with planning
permission) which is free, or expected to be free, of development constraints and is
available for the building of new homes.
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Established Housing Land Supply
Sites allocated for housing in the Local Development Plan, unallocated sites with a
current planning consent, the remaining capacity of sites under construction, and other
sites with agreed potential for development. Within the Established Supply, sites may be
classed as effective or constrained.
Energetica
A development initiative between Aberdeen and Peterhead to create a world-class
business and residential location within a high-quality environmental setting.
Energy from Waste
The process of creating energy, in the form of electricity or heat (or both), from waste.
Environmental Capacity
A property of the environment and its ability to accommodate a particular activity or rate
of an activity without unacceptable impact
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Flood Prevention Measures
Examples include walls, embankments, new channels and flood storage areas to try and
prevent a site from flooding.
Flood Risk
The combination of the probability of a flood and the potential adverse consequences
associated with a flood, for human health, the environment, cultural heritage and
economic activity.
Fuel Poverty
A household is in fuel poverty if, in order to maintain a satisfactory heating regime, it
would be required to spend more than 10% of its income (including Housing Benefit or
Income Support for Mortgage Interest) on all household fuel use.
Generosity
An additional percentage (usually 10% to 20%) added to the Housing Supply Target in
order to create the Housing Land Requirement.
Green Belt
An area of countryside where strict planning controls are in place to protect landscape
setting, maintain the identity of a place and provide land for recreation.
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Green Infrastructure
Includes the ‘green’ and ‘blue’ (water environment) features of the natural and built
environments that can provide benefits without being connected. Green features
include parks, woodlands, trees, play spaces, allotments, community growing spaces,
outdoor sports facilities, churchyards and cemeteries, swales, hedges, verges and
gardens. Blue features include rivers, lochs, wetlands, canals, other water courses,
ponds, coastal and marine areas including beaches, porous paving and sustainable
urban drainage systems.
Green Networks
Connected areas of green infrastructure and open space that together form an
integrated and multi-functional network.
Greenfield Land
Land which has not been developed, in either urban or rural areas.
Housing Market Area
A geographical area where the demand for housing is relatively self-contained. There
are two Housing Market Areas in the City Region – the Aberdeen Housing Market Area
and the Rural Housing Market Area.
Housing Need and Demand Assessment
The Housing Need and Demand Assessment estimates the future number of additional
homes to meet existing and future housing need and demand.
Housing Land Requirement
In order to ensure a generous supply of land for housing, the Housing Land Supply is
increased by a margin of “generosity” to establish the Housing Land Requirement.
Housing Supply Target
The total number of new housing needed over the Plan period, as informed by the
Housing Need and Demand Assessment.
Infrastructure
The facilities and other items needed to support development. This includes roads,
sewage and water facilities, and community infrastructure including education and
lifelong learning, health and sports facilities.
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Knowledge Economy
Sections of the economy that use knowledge rather than physical resources to create
wealth. Examples include education, research, and product development.
Local Development Plan
These are prepared by every local authority in Scotland. They contain detailed policies
and sites that have been chosen for development in line with the Strategic Development
Plan and after consultation with local communities and other stakeholders. The Local
Development Plan will be the main way for planning applications to be assessed.
Low Emission Zone
Low Emission Zones set an environmental limit on certain road spaces, to improve air
quality by allowing access to only the cleanest vehicles, particularly at locations where
there is public exposure.
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Mitigation
Action to reduce carbon dioxide and other harmful substances released into the air as a
way of reducing the level of climate change.
National Development
Designated in the National Planning Framework, these are the Scottish Government’s
priority projects for the development of Scotland.
National Planning Framework
The Scottish Government’s strategy for the long-term development of Scotland’s towns,
cities and countryside. It sets out a vision for Scotland’s development for the next 20 to
25 years and designates developments of national importance (National Developments).
Non-Renewable Resources
Resources that will run out and cannot be replaced. Non-renewable energy sources
include coal, gas and oil.
Placemaking
A creative, collaborative process that includes design, development, renewal or
regeneration of our urban or rural built environments. The outcome should be
sustainable, well-designed places and homes which meet people’s needs.

Place Standard Tool
A framework to structure conversations about place. It allows people to think about the
physical elements of a place (for example its buildings, spaces, and transport links) as
well as the social aspects (for example whether people feel they have a say in decision
making).
Regeneration
Regeneration is the process of reversing the economic, physical and social decline of
places.
Renewable Resources
Resources that do not run out. Renewable energy sources include energy from the sun,
the ground, wind, waves, tides and wood.
Residual Waste
The waste left over after items have been removed to be re-used or recycled.
Scottish Planning Policy
A document stating Scottish Government policy on nationally important land use and
other planning matters.
Sequential Approach
A process for choosing sites for retail development. The approach first looks for sites in
city and town centres, then sites on the edge of these centres, then other commercial
centres identified in the development plan, and finally out-of-town sites which can be, or
are, accessed by different forms of transport.
Simplified Planning Zone
A Simplified Planning Zone is an area where the need to apply for planning permission
for certain types of development is removed so long as the development complies with
the details and guidance set out in the Scheme.
Strategic
Important issues of greater than local significance, which may need both Councils to
work together.
Strategic Allocation
Major land allocations which are identified in a Local Development Plan for development
over a number of phases.
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Strategic Development Plan
Part of the Development Plan – a statutory document prepared after full public
consultation. Strategic Development Plans apply to the 4 City-Regions (Aberdeen,
Dundee, Edinburgh, Glasgow and their surrounding areas) and cover several Council
areas.

Tenure
The legal right under which properly is held. Housing tenures include owner-occupied
homes, homes rented from private landlords, and homes rented from a council or
housing association. Shared ownership is a tenure where a percentage of a property is
owned and the rest is rented.

Strategic Infrastructure
This is major investment in large-scale infrastructure (see above). This can include
railways or main roads, major junctions, water reservoirs, waste-water treatment works,
pumping stations, secondary schools and hospitals.

Town Centre First
A Town Centre First principle is intended to support city/town centres, where these
exists, or new centres which are supported by the Development Plan.

Strategic Reserve
Areas of land identified in a Local Development Plan for possible future development.
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Strategic Transport Network
Includes the trunk road and rail networks. Its primary purpose is to provide the safe and
efficient movement of strategic long-distance traffic between major centres, although in
rural areas it also performs important local functions

Vitality and Viability
A measure of how lively and busy city and town centres are and their ability to attract
ongoing investment for maintenance, improvement and to meet changing needs.
Water Bodies
Places where water is found such as rivers, burns, lochs, ponds, boggy wet land, water
held under the ground and coastal waters.

Sustainable Development
A widely used definition of this is ‘development that meets the needs of the present
without compromising the ability of future generations to meet their own needs’.
It means that development should take full account of its implications on the local
community and economy and on the environment both locally and worldwide. It has
increased in importance in both National and European policy guidance and is a pivotal
consideration in the planning process.
Sustainable Economic Growth
Building a dynamic and growing economy that will provide prosperity and opportunities
for all, while ensuring that future generations can enjoy a better quality of life too.
Sustainable Mixed Communities
Settlements which have a wider range of uses within them that allow for living, working
and undertaking recreation within them.
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Tel: 01224 539734
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Agenda Item 4

ABERDEEN CITY & SHIRE
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY
Date: 23 September 2020
Report Title: 2019/20 Annual Audit Report
1.
1.1

2.
2.1

Purpose of Report
To provide the Authority with the external auditor’s annual report in respect of
the 2019/20 audit of Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Planning
Authority’s annual accounts.
Background
The external auditor’s audit plan for the 2019/20 financial year was considered
by the Authority in June 2020. It set out the audit approach to providing an
opinion on the Authority’s financial statements which included:
•

understanding the business of Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic
Development Planning Authority and the associated risks which could
impact on the financial statements

•

assessing the key systems of internal control, and establishing how
weaknesses in these systems could impact on the financial statements

•

determining the nature, timing and extent of audit procedures necessary to
provide us with sufficient audit evidence as to whether the financial
statements are free of material misstatement.

2.2

The report includes the significant matters arising from the audit of the annual
accounts. The report also brings together the auditor’s key messages from
wider scope audit work undertaken in accordance with the auditor’s Annual
Audit Plan and Audit Scotland’s Code of Audit Practice.

3.
3.1

Recommendation
It is recommended that the Authority consider and note the Auditor’s Annual
Audit Report.

Report prepared by:
Anne MacDonald
Senior Audit Manager,
Audit Scotland
15 September 2020
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Item:
Page: 1

ABERDEEN CITY & SHIRE
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY
Date: 23 September 2020
Title:

AUDITED ANNUAL ACCOUNTS 2019/20

1.

Purpose of Report

1.1

This report submits the audited Annual Accounts for 2019/20 to be approved
by the Strategic Development Planning Authority (SDPA) for signature.

2

Background

2.1

Local Authorities and similar bodies are required to ensure that they
demonstrate proper stewardship of their financial affairs. The Annual Accounts,
together with the opinion expressed by the independent auditor on the activities
of the Authority, is designed to meet these requirements.

2.2

The independent auditor for the Authority, Audit Scotland, has expressed an
unmodified opinion on these Statements and this is detailed in pages 19 to 22
of Appendix 1, the Annual Accounts.

2.3

It is also a requirement of the governing regulations that the audited financial
statements will be made available for public inspection. The audited Annual
Accounts and the auditor’s report will be available on the Authority’s website
and can be accessed and downloaded free of charge.

3

Statement of Accounts 2018/19

3.1

The audited Annual Accounts are attached as Appendix 1, prepared in
accordance with the Code of Practice for Local Authority Accounting in the UK.
The document comprises a number of statements, but Members’ attention is
drawn to the following main items in particular:

3.2

Page

2 - 13

Management Commentary

Page

19 - 22

Independent Auditor’s Report

Page

23

Movement in Reserves Statement

Page

25

Balance Sheet showing the SDPA audited financial
position as at 31 March 2020.

Other prescribed financial statements are included as required along with
supporting notes to the statements where these are considered appropriate.
There are no Group Accounts to be commented upon.
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Item:
Page: 2
3.3

Regular budget monitoring statements had been produced throughout the year
and it had been anticipated that the budget would be underspent, largely due
to there being fewer members of staff seconded to the Authority than had been
budgeted for.

3.4

The actual costs of the SDPA, as well as the contributions from the partner
Councils, were £122,000 which is £86,000 less than the budgeted amounts.
The table on page 10 of the audited Accounts provides details of the actual
performance of the major income and expenditure headings compared to the
budgeted level of activity.

3.5

The Management Commentary outlines the changing regulatory environment,
as a result of the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019 receiving Royal Assent in July
2019. The report on the Position of the Strategic Development Planning
Authority recommends the winding up of the Strategic Development Planning
Authority as an entity. This set of Accounts will, therefore, be the final set drawn
up on behalf of the Authority.

3.6

The independent auditor’s report to the Authority, which is included as a
separate item on the agenda, is an important aspect of the auditor’s work in
expressing an opinion on the Annual Accounts. The report covers the principal
matters or issues that have arisen from the audit process and provides a useful
commentary on the Authority’s performance, corporate governance and best
value achievement as well as a review of areas of significant audit risk. The
report is very positive and attests to the strengths of the systems and controls
we have in place to manage the financial activities of the Authority. There are
no outstanding issues which have to be addressed.

4.

Recommendations

4.1

The Authority is recommended to:
1

Acknowledge Audit Scotland’s unmodified opinion on the Annual
Accounts for 2019/20

2

Approve for signature the audited Annual Accounts for 2019/20

Alan Wood
Treasurer
15 September 2020
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MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY

Introduction
The "Strategic Development Planning Authority" was designated by Scottish Government
Ministers on 25 June 2008 under the Planning etc. (Scotland) Act 2006. The Strategic
Development Planning Authority has 12 members, with six being appointed by both Aberdeen
City and Aberdeenshire Councils. The Chair and Vice Chair of the Strategic Development
Planning Authority rotate on a two and a half yearly cycle.
The Designation Order required Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire Councils to jointly prepare
and keep under review a Strategic Development Plan for a strategic development plan area.
Such a plan sets out a vision for long term development focusing on cross boundary issues
such as the amount and areas for housing, business and retail development, infrastructure
provision and green belts. The 2014 Strategic Development Plan was approved in March 2014
and covers the period 2014 - 2018.
In 2017, new planning legislation was progressing through the Scottish Parliament which
proposed and ultimately removed the requirement for a strategic development plan. However,
on 31 July 2017, Scottish Ministers directed the Strategic Development Planning Authority to
continue to produce a new strategic development plan.
A Proposed Strategic Development Plan covering the period 2019-2022 was submitted to
Scottish Ministers for Examination in April 2019. This Examination commenced in June 2019
and concluded in January 2020. The Examination recommended some modifications to the
Proposed Strategic Development Plan 2018. On 12 August 2020, Scottish Ministers approved
the Strategic Development Plan subject to the modifications set out in the Report of
Examination. The approved Strategic Development Plan 2020 immediately replaced the
Strategic Development Plan 2014. As a result of this, the development plan for the City Region
is currently up to date.
Progress against Performance Indicators
The influence of a Strategic Development Plan has a longer timescale than a year and annual
indicators of performance are not considered appropriate. As part of the review of the Strategic
Development Plan 2014, a Monitoring Report was produced, Monitoring Statement 2018. It
considered the Strategic Development Plan 2014’s performance against a number of its
aspirational targets.
Performance - Progress in delivering Strategic Development Plan’s aspirational targets
The Strategic Development Plan 2014 set out an ambitious strategy for growth across the City
Region over the period up to 2035. The Plan promoted a generous level of employment and
housing allowances coupled with a drive towards sustainable development, efficient use of
the region’s resources and infrastructure investment. More detailed policy development is
taken forward through both the Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire Local Development Plans.
Below are a number of the Strategic Development Plan 2014’s aspirational targets and how
they have been progressed since the Plan’s implementation. Under Scottish Planning Policy,
Strategic Development Plans are to set a long-term vision for a City Region. As such the
progress towards the below aspirational targets are gauged at an early point in the strategy
which will aim to be fully realised in the longer term.

2
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Objective
Economic
Growth

Target

•

•

Progress 2014 – 2019

At least 60
hectares of
marketable land
available to
businesses, at all
times, within
Aberdeen City and
Aberdeenshire

The established employment land supply in
Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire is robust.
There are 822 hectares of established and 491
hectares of marketable employment land.

All new
developments to
have the use of
high-speed
telecommunication
networks

The Aberdeen City Local Development Plan
2017 includes policy CI1 - Digital Infrastructure
states “All new residential and commercial
development will be expected to have access to
modern,
up-to-date
high-speed
communications infrastructure.”

More detail can be found in the Aberdeen City
and Shire Employment Land Audit 2018/2019
which is approved by the Strategic
Development Planning Authority.

The Aberdeenshire Local Development Plan
2017 includes policy P5 Digital infrastructure.
It is evident that there is a challenge in
providing access to fast broadband in rural
areas. The Rest of Scotland programme
addressed some of these areas with the aim
to provide fast broadband speeds to areas that
are poorly served by fibre connectivity. This
has been superseded by the R100
programme which is set to follow.
It is an unfortunate reality that there will be
rural areas that are just not commercially
viable for operators to invest in. However,
there are other technologies out there that can
address this. To this end the Strategic
Development Plan 2014 supports the
development
of
high-gigabit
speed
telecommunication networks using multiple
technologies.
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Sustainable
development
and climate
change

•

All new buildings to
be carbon neutral
by 2020

The Aberdeenshire Local Development Plan
2017 includes Policies C1 Using resources in
buildings and C2 Renewable energy which seek
to reduce emissions in new buildings and
promote the use of renewable energy.
The Aberdeen City Local Development Plan
2017 includes policies R7 - Low and Zero
Carbon Buildings, and Water Efficiency and R8
Renewable and Low Carbon Energy
Developments.
Both Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire have
published Proposed Local Development Plans
which will refine and enhance the above
policies. These policies will continue to be
monitored and appraised during the review of
these Local Development Plans.

•

For the equivalent
of the city region’s
electricity needs to
be met from
renewable sources
by 2020.

While new onshore renewable generation has
slowed over recent years, two offshore
windfarms - Hywind, off Peterhead, and
EOWDC,
off
Aberdeen,
have
added
approximately 356GWh to the supply annually.
In addition to this, there are two consented
offshore windfarms which are yet to start
construction, but which would add 3,059GWh
annually. The MORL (East) development is the
most significant of these and it received
‘Contract for Difference’ support from the UK
Government in September 2017. The first
offshore platform for a wind turbine was
installed on the 10th of August 2020 and the first
offshore cable landed in Inverboyndie on the
same date. When completed over the next few
years, these offshore developments will mean
the region would produce the equivalent of over
175% of its electricity consumption needs, or
40% of Scotland’s electricity consumption
needs.
The Strategic Development Plan designated the
substation at New Deer as a Strategic Project to
aid the delivery of the MORL (East)
development.

4
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Population
growth

•

Increase the
population of the
city region to
500,000 by 2035

The population of the City Region reached
480,000 in 2012 and was estimated to be
489,880 in 2019 (NRS).
The National Records for Scotland 2019 midyear estimates currently show a slight increase
in population. This has arrested a recent trend
of 3 consecutive years of population decline for
Aberdeen City and two consecutive years of
population decline for Aberdeenshire.

•

Move towards
building at least
2,500 homes a
year by 2016 and
at least 3,000 by
2020

The aspiration to move towards building at least
2,500 homes a year by 2016 through the
development plan has not become a reality.
Completions have however been increasing
year on year since 2012 with approximately
2,100 homes being delivered in 2019.
There is effective land supply of over 34,000
homes according to the Aberdeen City and
Shire Housing Land Audit 2019.
Due to the Covid-19 crisis, the Housing Land
Audit for 2020 has been delayed. In order to
undertake meaningful consultation with key
stakeholders from the development industry,
many of whom were on furlough during the
national lockdown period, the Housing Land
Audit is now being conducted between
September and December 2020.

Quality of the
environment

•

To ensure that
development does
not lead to the loss
of, or damage to,
built, natural or
cultural heritage
assets

The Aberdeenshire Local Development Plan
2017 includes policies E1: Natural heritage and
E2; Landscape which seek to protect and
enhance the natural environment. Policies
HE1: Protecting listed buildings, sites, and
monuments and HE2: Protecting historic and
cultural areas seek to do the same for cultural
heritage.
The Aberdeen City Local Development Plan
2017 includes the Policy NE8: Natural Heritage
which champions the protection, preservation
and enhancement of natural heritage. This is
complemented by Policies D4: Historic
Environment and D5 - Our Granite Heritage
which seek to protect and enhance built
heritage.
These policies are monitored and reviewed
during the production of both councils’ Local
Development Plans.
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Sustainable
mixed
communities

•

Avoid new
development
preventing water
bodies achieving
good ecological
status under the
Water Frameworks
Directive.

The majority of water bodies achieved the same
ecological status in 2014 as they did in 2013. Of
the bodies that changed, the number achieving
a degraded ecological status increased by 28
and the number achieving an improved status
was 16, so there was a net decrease in quality
of water bodies. While this net decrease cannot
necessarily be attributed to development or the
plan’s strategy, progress towards this target is
nonetheless negative.

•

For 40% of all new
housing in
Aberdeen City to
be on brownfield
sites

The Aberdeen City and Shire Housing Land
Audit indicated that 17% of the Aberdeen City
established land supply is on brownfield sites.
There are also large constrained sites which are
located on brownfield sites which may come
forward for development over the life of the
Strategic Development Plan.

•

For new housing to
include appropriate
levels of affordable
housing (around
25%) and a mix of
types and sizes of
homes.

Affordable housing schemes are generally
delivered in tranches or programmed with
phased releases. Completions by housing
developers and Registered Social Landlords
(RSL’s) are out with the direct control of
Councils.
The result of this is variable yearly completion
rates whereby some years may record high
levels of completions and others lower levels of
completions. Except for 2014/15 and 2016/17,
there has been a steady increase, year on year,
of affordable home completions across both
Aberdeen City and Aberdeenshire Councils.
These two years have reduced the average to
380 new affordable homes per year for the
period. However, due to the SDP 2014’s
generous housing land allowances a pattern of
increasing rates of affordable housing being
delivered is beginning to emerge. In 2016/17,
340 units were delivered, increasing to 564 units
in 2018/19 and 671 units in 2019/20.
The number of affordable units delivered in
2019/20 were split across the city region as
follows: Aberdeenshire 270 and Aberdeen City
401.
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Accessibility

•

For major
employment and
service
developments to
show they are easy
to access by
walking, cycling or
using public
transport.

The Strategic Development Plan 2014 carried
forward the spatial strategy promoted by the
Structure Plan 2009. It focused new
development in areas likely to benefit from new
and planned infrastructure improvements.
Since the approval of the SDP 2014 there has
been considerable investment in the road and
rail network.
The Aberdeen Western Peripheral Route
(AWPR) has opened, coupled with the dual
carriageway to Balmedie. Work has also
commenced on the upgrade to the Haudigain
roundabout, and the Laurencekirk grade
separated junction.
Draft Orders and the Environmental Impact
Assessment Report for the proposed
Laurencekirk scheme were published on 19
December 2019 for formal comment. A public
exhibition was held on 10 January 2020, to
allow local communities and road users to view
proposals for the junction. The Statutory
Consultation Period closed on 14 February
2020.
The A96 Dualling East of Huntly Route Options
have yet to be finalised by Transport Scotland.
Drop-in sessions regarding the Route Options
took place in May 2019, and the consultation
period has since closed. Transport Scotland
were not able to keep to their published
timetable to announce a preferred route by the
end of 2019.
Prior to Covid-19, Kintore Station was on course
to
open,
operationally,
in
mid-May
2020. However, all construction on site was
halted in mid-March and has not yet resumed.
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•

To reduce the
percentage of
journeys made by
car.

An important issue for the plan has been the
promotion of the link between spatial planning
and transport infrastructure. This requires
facilitating development which encourages
walking, cycling and public transport. To do this,
development must be focused in areas well
serviced by public transport.
The most recent data relating to this is from
2009/10 and it can be safely assumed that,
since this was collected, the number of stops
has increased as well as the density of
development in proximity to existing and new
stops.
The Scottish Household Survey (SHS), shows
that accessibility by bus is much greater in
Aberdeen than in Aberdeenshire due to their
urban and rural characteristics. In Aberdeen
City, 77.4% live within six minutes’ walk of a bus
service of at least three per hour – the
equivalent figure for Aberdeenshire is 21.5%.
The most recent population data is from 2012.
When compared to the previous analysis we
can see that there has been an increase of
6,263 people within 1.6km of a train station and
15,492 within 5km of a station, increases of
6.5% and 6%. This means that there has been
a greater upswing in population closer to
stations.

There is ongoing analysis of key trend areas over time to consider the appropriateness of the
plan, and to inform its review and the production of subsequent plans.
The Strategic Development Plan, Housing Land Audit and Employment Land Audit all highlight
the aspirational nature of the Strategic Development Planning Authority. Significant quantities
of land are now available to the development industry, a result of the strategic framework and
the Spatial Strategy set by the Strategic Development Planning Authority.
The Strategic Development Planning Authority has been awarded a number of Plain English
Campaign “Crystal Marks” which recognises the quality of the communications issued. The
authority’s website allows interested parties access to the most up to date information on
Strategic Development Plan preparation.
No performance indicators have been specifically identified to measure financial performance.
However, the Strategic Development Planning Authority agrees a budget in advance of each
financial year and considers a detailed budget monitoring report, with a forecast for the year,
of income and expenditure at each meeting. This allows regular and close scrutiny of activities
against specific financial targets to take place and is considered adequate for this organisation.
8
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Financial Performance Review
The Strategic Development Planning Authority’s core funding from partner Councils, and the
support for its strategic programme, reflects their continued support. The budgeted provision
for 2019/20 was £208,000 (2018/19: £142,000).

Financial Performance 2019/20
Employee costs for 2019/20 were 58% under budget due to the planned reduction in the
number of staff, through the conclusion of secondments which were not extended or replaced.
This was a direct response to the introduction of the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019 which
reduced the statutory functions carried out by the Strategic Development Planning Authority.
In 2019/20 the Strategic Development Planning Authority had two members of staff which
comprised a permanent Senior Planner and one Senior Planner, seconded from
Aberdeenshire Council. The permanent Senior Planner left the Authority at the end of
December 2019 to take up a permanent post with Aberdeen City Council. The seconded
member of staff returned to her substantive post, with Aberdeenshire Council, at the end of
March 2020.
The approved budget for 2019/20 was based on three full time members of staff. Although
three had been in post during 2018/19, a Team Leader, who had been seconded from
Aberdeen City Council, returned to her substantive post with effect from 31 March 2019.
Total operating expenses were £122,000 which is £86,000 under budget. Costs other than
staffing mainly related to the Proposed Strategic Development Plan Examination, carried out
by the Scottish Government.
During the Examination, a period of representation in public on the Proposed Strategic
Development Plan was undertaken from 8 October to 17 December 2018. All representations
received on the Proposed Plan were considered and officers prepared a summary of
unresolved issues before submitting the Plan to Scottish Ministers for Examination in Public.
A Reporter was allocated by Scottish Ministers on the 28 May 2019, and on 22 June 2019 a
second Reporter was allocated for the Examination of the Proposed Plan, to aid the speedy
delivery of the report. The Examination commenced on 25 June 2019.
The Report of Examination was published in January 2020 and on 12 August 2020 Scottish
Ministers approved the Strategic Development Plan 2020.

9
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Details of the performance against budget is detailed below.

2018/19
Actual

2019/20
Budget

2019/20
Actual

£000

£000

£000

%
Actual
v
Budget

Partner Council Requisitions
Other Income / Reserves

145
-

208
-

122
-

59%
0%

Total Income

145

208

122

59%

Staff Costs
Other Costs

135
10

161
47

94
28

58%
60%

Total Operating Expenses

145

208

122

59%

-

-

-

Net Surplus/(Deficit)

Principal Risks and Uncertainties
The principal risk facing the Strategic Development Planning Authority, as with many such
bodies, is the reliance on third party funding to support its annual programme.
The relationships with partners are close and each local authority partner is willing to jointly
fund any strategic and regional planning which is required to be undertaken in light of the
emerging National Planning Framework and the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019.
We are confident that all material risks facing the Strategic Development Planning Authority
are known and that appropriate measures are in place to overcome, or at least mitigate, the
impact that these may have on the continued operation of the Authority.
In addition, and particularly relevant to the Strategic Development Planning Authority, over the
last few years the Scottish Government has been reviewing the operation of the planning
system in Scotland. The Planning (Scotland) Bill was passed by the Scottish Parliament on
20 June 2019 and received Royal assent on 25 July 2019. It has resulted in considerable
changes for strategic planning which are summarised below:
•

The National Planning Framework (NPF) has enhanced status, and along with the
Local Development Plan forms the statutory ‘Development Plan’. It will set out targets
for housing land, national transport strategies and strategic projects. It will be
undertaken in consultation with Planning Authorities and key agencies with a 10-year
review cycle. The Scottish Ministers may at any time amend the National Planning
Framework.

10

Page 95

MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)
Principal Risks and Uncertainties (continued)
•

The statutory function to produce a Strategic Development Plan has been replaced by
Regional Spatial Strategies. These are to be prepared by Planning Authorities alone
or jointly with other Authorities. This function could be facilitated through the Strategic
Development Planning Authority, as the status of the Authority has not been affected
by the changes of the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019. Regard is to be given to an
adopted Regional Spatial Strategy in preparing the National Planning
Framework/Local Development Plan.

Main Trends and Factors Likely to Affect the Future Development, Performance and
Position of the Strategic Development Planning Authority's Business
Since December 2017, the Chief Officer Strategic Place Planning (Aberdeen City Council) and
the Head of Service Planning and Environment (Aberdeenshire Council) have taken over the
management duties associated with the Strategic Development Planning Authority. Such
collaborative working will continue, with the Strategic Development Planning Authority’s agile
approach towards positioning itself to accommodate any significant changes affecting this
sector and, in particular, those that have been identified in the wider development plans for
the region.
The removal of the requirement to produce Strategic Development Plans, and their
replacement with Regional Spatial Strategies, was confirmed in July 2019 when the Planning
(Scotland) Act 2019 received Royal Assent. Transitional arrangements on the implementation
of the new legislation including greater clarity on the production of Regional Spatial Strategies
were expected to be published by the Scottish Government. However, this has not yet
happened, and there is currently no indication of when it will.
There are no longer any permanent or seconded members of staff working for the Strategic
Development Authority. Given that the primary expenditure of the Authority has been staffing
costs, and there are no staff currently in post, there was no requirement to produce a formal
budget for 2020/21. Any costs arising from the approval of the Proposed Strategic
Development Plan 2018, and its subsequent publication, have been jointly met by Aberdeen
City Council and Aberdeenshire Council as required. Both Councils are committed to providing
technical knowledge and resources to undertake regional or strategic development planning
if required.
In September 2020, having considered the impact of the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019, the
board agreed to wind up the authority on the basis that the functions set out in its Minute of
Agreement were no longer relevant. When the requirements for Regional Spatial Strategies
become clearer, Aberdeen City Council and Aberdeenshire Council will implement appropriate
governance arrangements, and this may include a new collaborative approach. The 2019/20
financial statements are therefore the final accounts to be prepared in respect of the Strategic
Development Planning Authority.
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Annual Accounts
The Strategic Development Planning Authority is required to prepare Annual Accounts by the
Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, which section 12 of the Local
Government in Scotland Act 2003 requires to be prepared in accordance with proper
accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20 (the Code), supported by International
Financial Reporting Standards and statutory guidance issued under section 12 of the 2003
Act.

Going Concern
Following the implementation of the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019, the Authority is no longer
required to prepare a Strategic Development Plan. Although post Strategic Development Plan
work will continue to be supported by officers from the partner bodies, costs are expected to
be minimal and will be absorbed by the partner authorities. These Annual Accounts will
therefore be the last set produced for the Strategic Development Planning Authority.
The Authority has not experienced a financial shortfall but is being wound up in response to
changes in legislation. It is appropriate to adopt a going concern basis for the production of
the 2019/20 Annual Accounts.

Audit Information
The Strategic Development Planning Authority at the date of this report confirms that:
•
•

So far as they are aware, there is no relevant audit information of which the Strategic
Development Planning Authority’s auditor is unaware; and
They have taken all the steps that they ought to have taken, as a member or officer, in
order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that
the Strategic Development Planning Authority’s auditor is aware of that.

Remuneration Paid to the Auditor for Non-Audit Work
No remuneration was paid to the Strategic Development Planning Authority’s external auditor
for non-audit work during 2019/20.

Pension Liabilities
The Strategic Development Planning Authority does not employ staff of its own. During the
year, two officers were seconded by the partner councils to the planning authority and their
payroll costs were recharged accordingly. While such officers are members of the
Superannuation Scheme administered by Aberdeen City Council, the liability for their pension
related costs remains with the partner authorities as the employers and consequently, the
Strategic Development Planning Authority does not reflect a pension liability on its balance
sheet.

12

Page 97

MANAGEMENT COMMENTARY (continued)

Events since the End of the Financial Year
In September 2020, having considered the impact of the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019, the
Board agreed to wind up the authority on the basis that the functions set out in its Minute of
Agreement were no longer relevant.

Future Developments
Close links are maintained with appropriate government departments and the Strategic
Development Plan has recently been refreshed.
In terms of the legislative requirement to produce a Regional Spatial Strategy, partner councils
recognise that a similar operational format to the Authority albeit for a different purpose, may
be required. When there is greater clarity on the requirements, partner councils will approve
and implement new governance arrangements to support the development of a strategy.
Going forward and until the direction of travel becomes clearer, there is confidence that any
future governance structure could be set up with relative ease, reflective of the current
Strategic Development Planning Authority format. Section 57 of the Local Government
(Scotland) Act 1973 allows two or more Councils to set up joint committees to discharge their
functions. Subject to guidance and regulations from the Scottish Government, it would likely
be an option for Aberdeen City Council and Aberdeenshire Council to set up a joint committee
to discharge their Regional Spatial Strategy functions.

Councillor John Cox,
Chair,
Strategic Development
Planning Authority

Gale Beattie,
Chief Officer,
Strategic Place Planning,
Aberdeen City Council

23 September 2020
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Alan Wood,
MA (Hons),
CPFA
Treasurer

REMUNERATION REPORT

Introduction
For the purposes of the local authority accounts, a remuneration report is prepared in
accordance with the Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014. These
Regulations require local authorities to make certain disclosures about the remuneration and
pension benefits of senior Councillors and senior employees employed by local authorities
alongside the local authority accounts.
The Strategic Development Planning Authority does not make payment to any member of the
Strategic Development Planning Authority, whether elected Member or otherwise appointed,
by way of salary, pension benefits or reimbursement of expenses.
The positions of Chair and Vice Chair are rotated between the partner authorities every two
and a half years. Accordingly, from 1 January 2020 Councillor John Cox (Aberdeenshire
Council) was appointed Chair of the Authority while Councillor Marie Boulton (Aberdeen City
Council) became Vice-Chair. Both councillors have received remuneration from their
respective councils in their capacities as senior councillors with no additional allowances paid
by the Authority. The remuneration of senior councillors is disclosed in the Remuneration
Reports included within Aberdeenshire Council’s and Aberdeen City Council’s Annual
Accounts.
The Treasurer and Clerk to the Strategic Development Planning Authority do not receive
remuneration from the Strategic Development Planning Authority. Since December 2017, the
Chief Officer Strategic Place Planning (Aberdeen City Council) and Head of Service Planning
and Environment (Aberdeenshire Council) have responsibility for the management duties
associated with the Strategic Development Planning Authority. The duties of these posts are
covered by the post holders’ substantive posts in their respective Councils.
The information provided below is subject to independent audit.
Remuneration
For 2018/19 and 2019/20, the authority did not directly employ any staff in its own right and
so there were no payments to senior staff for salaries, bonuses, pension rights, compensation
for loss of employment, taxable benefits or non-cash benefits.
Exit Packages
There were no exit packages during the financial year. (2018/19 – nil)
Remuneration of Employees receiving more than £50,000
There were no employees who received more than £50,000 remuneration for the year in
2019/20. (2018/19 – nil).

Councillor John Cox,
Chair,
Strategic Development Planning
Authority.

Gale Beattie,
Chief Officer Strategic Place Planning,
Aberdeen City Council.

23 September 2020
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT
The Strategic Development Planning Authority has a responsibility for ensuring that its
business is conducted in accordance with the law and proper standards, and that public money
is safeguarded, properly accounted for, and used appropriately. This would include making
arrangements to secure continuous improvement in the way in which its functions are
exercised, having regard to a combination of economy, efficiency and effectiveness.
In discharging this responsibility, the Strategic Development Planning Authority Management
Team and Treasurer have put in place proper arrangements for the governance of resources,
approved by the Strategic Development Planning Authority. The Strategic Development
Planning Authority has adopted a Code of Corporate Governance which ensures the
accountability and probity of officers. The Code is consistent with the principles and reflects
the requirements of the CIPFA Statement on the Role of the Chief Financial Officer (CFO) in
Local Government (2016) as set out in Delivering Good Governance in Local Government:
Framework (2016).
The governance framework comprises the systems, processes, cultures and values by which
the Strategic Development Planning Authority is directed and controlled, and the activities
used to engage with and lead the community. It enables the Strategic Development Planning
Authority to monitor the achievement of its strategic objectives and to consider whether those
objectives have led to the delivery of appropriate, cost-effective services.
The system of internal control is a significant part of that framework and is designed to manage
risk to a reasonable level. It cannot eliminate all risk of failure to achieve policies, aims and
objectives and can therefore only provide reasonable and not absolute assurance of
effectiveness. The system of internal control is based on an ongoing process designed to
identify and prioritise the risks to the achievement of the Strategic Development Planning
Authority’s policies, aims and objectives, to evaluate the likelihood and potential impact of
those risks being realised, and to manage them efficiently, effectively and economically.
The system of corporate governance and internal financial control is based on a framework of
financial regulations, management information and appropriate delegation with accountability.
In particular, the system includes: •
•
•
•
•
•
•

The Strategic Development Planning Authority’s Scheme of Governance, comprising
Standing Orders, Delegations, Financial Regulations and Guidance;
Management information;
Performance and risk management;
Comprehensive financial management systems;
Periodic and annual financial reports;
Clearly defined expenditure guidelines; and
Periodic review of all financial procedures.

The corporate governance and internal control procedures are informed by: •
•
•
•

Feedback from Councillors and the Strategic Development Planning Authority Board in
carrying out its scrutiny role;
The work of the Officers within the Strategic Development Planning Authority;
Internal Audit & External Audit; and
Partner and stakeholder feedback.
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ANNUAL GOVERNANCE STATEMENT (continued)
Review of Effectiveness
The review of the effectiveness of the governance framework, including the system of internal
control, is carried out throughout the year by various means involving: •
•
•
•

•
•

Reports to the Board;
The Head of Legal and Governance who is the statutory Monitoring Officer in terms of the
Local Government and Housing Act 1989 and provides legal advice to Councillors and
senior officers;
The Treasurer who has statutory responsibility for the Strategic Development Planning
Authority’s financial affairs in terms of Section 95 of the Local Government (Scotland) Act
1973. His responsibilities are set out in the Statement of Responsibilities;
Internal Audit which is an independent review function of the Strategic Development
Planning Authority and is responsible for the internal audit of all financial and non-financial
systems of the Strategic Development Planning Authority and both Aberdeen City and
Aberdeenshire Council;
External organisations that carry out independent audits or inspections of the Strategic
Development Planning Authority. These include external audit by auditors appointed by
the Accounts Commission; and
Self-assessment reviews undertaken by Partner authorities to demonstrate compliance
with their respective Codes of Governance.

The Strategic Development Planning Authority’s Code of Corporate Governance and the
related systems of internal financial control provide reasonable assurance that objectives will
be met. The Strategic Development Planning Authority adheres to the principles of openness,
integrity and accountability and takes all reasonable steps to ensure assets are safeguarded,
transactions are authorised and properly recorded, procedures are practical and adhered to
and that material errors are either prevented or detected within a timely period, and corrective
action taken.
Risk Management is viewed as essential in the context of financial governance. An increase
in the awareness and consequences of risk have become more prevalent within the Strategic
Development Planning Authority. The consideration of risk has been recognised in the budget
setting report and will be considered in all financial governance procedures.
The Strategic Development Planning Authority relies on the financial systems of
Aberdeenshire Council. Aberdeenshire Council’s Chief Internal Auditor has the responsibility
to review independently, and report to the Council’s Audit Committee annually, on the
adequacy and effectiveness of the Council’s internal control environment. The Chief Internal
Auditor reports that, in his opinion, based on his evaluation of the Council’s control
environment, reasonable assurance can be placed upon the adequacy and effectiveness of
the internal control system in the year to 31 March 2020. On the basis of the Chief Internal
Auditor’s report to Aberdeenshire Council’s Audit Committee, we are satisfied that the
arrangements provide assurance, are adequate and are operating effectively.

Councillor John Cox,
Chair,
Strategic Development Planning Authority

Gale Beattie,
Chief Officer Strategic Place Planning,
Aberdeen City Council.

23 September 2020
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS

The Strategic Development Planning Authority’s Responsibilities
The Strategic Development Planning Authority is required to:
•
•

•
•

make arrangements for the proper administration of its financial affairs and to ensure that
one of its officers has the responsibility for the administration of those affairs. In this case,
that officer is the Treasurer to the Strategic Development Planning Authority;
ensure the Annual Accounts are prepared in accordance with legislation (The Local
Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014), and so far as is compatible with that
legislation, in accordance with proper accounting practices (section 12 of the Local
Government in Scotland Act 2003);
manage its affairs to secure economic, efficient and effective use of resources and
safeguard its assets; and
approve the Annual Accounts for signature.

I confirm that these Annual Accounts were approved for signature by the Authority at its
meeting on 23 September 2020.

Councillor John Cox,
Chair,
Strategic Development Planning Authority.

23 September 2020
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STATEMENT OF RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE ANNUAL ACCOUNTS (continued)
The Treasurer’s Responsibilities

The Treasurer is responsible for the preparation of the Strategic Development Planning
Authority’s Annual Accounts in accordance with proper practices as set out in the Chartered
Institute of Public Finance and Accountancy/Local Authority (Scotland) Accounts Advisory
Committee Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom (the Code).
In preparing the Annual Accounts, the Treasurer has:
•
•
•
•

selected suitable accounting policies and then applied them consistently;
made judgements and estimates that were reasonable and prudent;
complied with legislation; and
complied with the Code (in so far as it is compatible with legislation).

The Treasurer has also:
•
•

kept proper accounting records which were up to date; and
taken reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

I certify that the Annual Accounts give a true and fair view of the financial position of the
Strategic Development Planning Authority at the reporting date and the transactions of the
Strategic Development Planning Authority for the year ended 31 March 2020.

Alan Wood, MA (Hons), CPFA,
Treasurer.

23 September 2020

18

Page 103

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ABERDEEN CITY AND
SHIRE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY AND THE ACCOUNTS
COMMISSION

Report on the audit of the financial statements
Opinion on financial statements
I certify that I have audited the financial statements in the annual accounts of Aberdeen City
and Shire Strategic Development Planning Authority for the year ended 31 March 2020 under
Part VII of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973. The financial statements comprise the
Movement in Reserves Statement, Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement,
Balance Sheet and Cash Flow Statement and notes to the financial statements, including a
summary of significant accounting policies. The financial reporting framework that has been
applied in their preparation is applicable law and International Financial Reporting Standards
(IFRSs) as adopted by the European Union, and as interpreted and adapted by the Code of
Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20 (the 2019/20 Code).
In my opinion the accompanying financial statements:
•

give a true and fair view in accordance with applicable law and the 2019/20 Code of the
state of affairs of the Authority as at 31 March 2020 and of its income and expenditure
for the year then ended;

•

have been properly prepared in accordance with IFRSs as adopted by the European
Union, as interpreted and adapted by the 2019/20 Code; and

•

have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Local Government
(Scotland) Act 1973, The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, and
the Local Government in Scotland Act 2003.

Basis for opinion
I conducted my audit in accordance with applicable law and International Standards on
Auditing (UK) (ISAs (UK)), as required by the Code of Audit Practice approved by the Accounts
Commission for Scotland. My responsibilities under those standards are further described in
the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements section of my report. I was
appointed under arrangements approved by the Accounts Commission on 10 April 2017. The
period of total uninterrupted appointment is four years. I am independent of the Authority in
accordance with the ethical requirements that are relevant to my audit of the financial
statements in the UK including the Financial Reporting Council’s Ethical Standard, and I have
fulfilled my other ethical responsibilities in accordance with these requirements. Non-audit
services prohibited by the Ethical Standard were not provided to the Authority. I believe that
the audit evidence I have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for my
opinion.
Conclusions relating to going concern basis of accounting
I have nothing to report in respect of the following matters in relation to which the ISAs (UK)
require me to report to you where:
•

the use of the going concern basis of accounting in the preparation of the financial
statements is not appropriate; or

•

the Treasurer has not disclosed in the financial statements any identified material
uncertainties that may cast significant doubt about the Authority’s ability to continue to
adopt the going concern basis of accounting for a period of at least twelve months from
the date when the financial statements are authorised for issue.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ABERDEEN CITY AND
SHIRE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY AND THE ACCOUNTS
COMMISSION (continued)
Risks of material misstatement
I report in a separate Annual Audit Report, available from the Audit Scotland website, the most
significant assessed risks of material misstatement that I identified and my conclusions
thereon.

Responsibilities of the Treasurer and Authority for the financial statements
As explained more fully in the Statement of Responsibilities, the Treasurer is responsible for
the preparation of financial statements that give a true and fair view in accordance with the
financial reporting framework, and for such internal control as the Treasurer determines is
necessary to enable the preparation of financial statements that are free from material
misstatement, whether due to fraud or error.
In preparing the financial statements, the Treasurer is responsible for assessing the Authority’s
ability to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going
concern and using the going concern basis of accounting unless deemed inappropriate.
The Authority is responsible for overseeing the financial reporting process.

Auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements
My objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the financial statements, as
a whole, are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an
auditor’s report that includes my opinion. Reasonable assurance is a high level of assurance,
but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with ISAs (UK) will always detect
a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are
considered material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to
influence the economic decisions of users taken on the basis of these financial statements.
The risk of not detecting a material misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one
resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, intentional omissions, misrepresentations,
or the override of internal control. The capability of the audit to detect fraud and other
irregularities depends on factors such as the skilfulness of the perpetrator, the frequency and
extent of manipulation, the degree of collusion involved, the relative size of individual amounts
manipulated, and the seniority of those individuals involved. I therefore design and perform
audit procedures which respond to the assessed risks of material misstatement due to fraud.
A further description of the auditor’s responsibilities for the audit of the financial statements is
located on the Financial Reporting Council's website www.frc.org.uk/auditorsresponsibilities.
This description forms part of my auditor’s report.

Other information in the annual accounts
The Treasurer is responsible for the other information in the annual accounts. The other
information comprises the information other than the financial statements, the audited part of
the Remuneration Report, and my auditor’s report thereon. My opinion on the financial
statements does not cover the other information and I do not express any form of assurance
conclusion thereon except on matters prescribed by the Accounts Commission to the extent
explicitly stated later in this report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ABERDEEN CITY AND
SHIRE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY AND THE ACCOUNTS
COMMISSION (continued)
In connection with my audit of the financial statements, my responsibility is to read all the other
information in the annual accounts and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is
materially inconsistent with the financial statements or my knowledge obtained in the audit or
otherwise appears to be materially misstated. If I identify such material inconsistencies or
apparent material misstatements, I am required to determine whether there is a material
misstatement in the financial statements or a material misstatement of the other information.
If, based on the work I have performed, I conclude that there is a material misstatement of this
other information, I am required to report that fact. I have nothing to report in this regard.

Report on other requirements
Opinions on matters prescribed by the Accounts Commission
In my opinion, the audited part of the Remuneration Report has been properly prepared in
accordance with The Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014.
In my opinion, based on the work undertaken in the course of the audit:
•

the information given in the Management Commentary for the financial year for which
the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements and
that report has been prepared in accordance with statutory guidance issued under the
Local Government in Scotland Act 2003; and

•

the information given in the Annual Governance Statement for the financial year for
which the financial statements are prepared is consistent with the financial statements
and that report has been prepared in accordance with the Delivering Good Governance
in Local Government: Framework (2016).

Matters on which I am required to report by exception
I am required by the Accounts Commission to report to you if, in my opinion:
•

adequate accounting records have not been kept; or

•

the financial statements and the audited part of the Remuneration Report are not in
agreement with the accounting records; or

•

I have not received all the information and explanations I require for my audit.

I have nothing to report in respect of these matters.

Conclusions on wider scope responsibilities
In addition to my responsibilities for the annual accounts, my conclusions on the wider scope
responsibilities specified in the Code of Audit Practice, including those in respect of Best
Value, are set out in my Annual Audit Report.
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INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT TO THE MEMBERS OF ABERDEEN CITY AND
SHIRE STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY AND THE ACCOUNTS
COMMISSION (continued)

Use of my report
This report is made solely to the parties to whom it is addressed in accordance with Part VII
of the Local Government (Scotland) Act 1973 and for no other purpose. In accordance with
paragraph 120 of the Code of Audit Practice, I do not undertake to have responsibilities to
members or officers, in their individual capacities, or to third parties.

Anne MacDonald CA
Senior Audit Manager
Audit Scotland
The Annexe
Woodhill House
Westburn Road
Aberdeen
AB16 5GB
23 September 2020
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MOVEMENT IN RESERVES STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 MARCH 2020
This Statement shows the movement in the year on reserves held by the Strategic
Development Planning Authority, analysed into 'usable’ reserves and ‘unusable’ reserves.
Usable reserves are those that can be applied to fund expenditure and any statutory limitations
on their use. Unusable reserves would normally include reserves that hold unrealised gains
and losses and reserves that hold timing differences which would be shown in the line
“Adjustments between accounting basis and funding basis under regulations”.
Expenditure by the Strategic Development Planning Authority has been matched by
requisitions from partner councils. The Authority does not have any unusable reserves and
there are no statutory or presentation adjustments between the Authority’s accounting basis
and funding basis. The outturn position on the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Account is as reported in budget monitoring reports to the Authority. Consequently, there are
no movements on the Movement in Reserves Statement and there are no balances held at
31 March 2019 and 31 March 2020. In addition, an Expenditure and Funding Analysis is not
therefore required within these Annual Accounts.

General
Fund

Unusable
Reserves

Total
Reserves

£000

Total
Usable
Reserves
£000

£000

£000

Balance at 31 March 2019

-

-

-

-

Balance at 31 March 2020

-

-

-

-
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COMPREHENSIVE INCOME AND EXPENDITURE STATEMENT FOR THE YEAR ENDED
31 MARCH 2020
This Statement shows the accounting cost in the year of providing services in accordance with
generally accepted accounting practices, rather than the amount to be funded from grants or
requisitions. The Strategic Development Planning Authority receives contributions to cover
expenditure in accordance with agreements. This may be different from the accounting cost
and the effect on the General Fund is shown in the Movement in Reserves Statement.

£000
£000
Expenditure Income

135

-

7

-

3
145

-

-

(145)

2018/19
£000
Net

Note

135 Staff Costs
7 Supplies and
Services
3 Other Costs
145 Cost of Services

Requisitions and
Non-Specific
(145) Grant Income

10

£000
£000
Expenditure Income

2019/20
£000
Net

94

-

94

28

-

28

122

-

122

-

(122)

(122)

(Surplus) or
Deficit on
Provision of
- Services

-

Other
Comprehensive
Income and
- Expenditure

-

Total
Comprehensive
Income and
- Expenditure

-
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BALANCE SHEET AS AT 31 MARCH 2020
The Balance Sheet shows the value as at the Balance Sheet date of assets and liabilities
recognised by the Strategic Development Planning Authority. The net assets of the Strategic
Development Planning Authority (assets less liabilities) are matched by the reserves held by
the Strategic Development Planning Authority.
Reserves are reported in two categories. The first category of reserves is usable reserves, i.e.
those reserves that the Strategic Development Planning Authority may use to provide
services. The second category of reserves is unusable reserves, i.e. those that are not able
to be used to provide services. The Strategic Development Planning Authority does not have
any unusable reserves.

31 March 2019
£000
40
40
(37)
(3)
(40)

Note
Cash and Cash Equivalents
Short Term Debtors
Current Assets
Short Term Borrowing
Short Term Creditors
Current Liabilities

31 March 2020
£000

7

61
61

8

(58)
(3)
(61)

-

Net Assets

-

-

Usable Reserves
Unusable Reserves

-

-

Total Reserves

-

The unaudited annual accounts were authorised for issue on 26 June 2020 and the audited
annual accounts were authorised for issue on 23 September 2020.

Alan Wood, MA (Hons), CPFA,
Treasurer.

23 September 2020
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CASH FLOW STATEMENT
The Cash Flow statement shows the changes in cash and cash equivalents of the Strategic
Development Planning Authority during the reporting period.
The Statement should show how the Strategic Development Planning Authority generates and
uses cash and cash equivalents by classifying cash flows as operating, investing and financing
activities. The Strategic Development Planning Authority had no investing or financing
activities in either the current or prior year and did not receive any interest.
The amount of net cash flows arising from operating activities is a key indicator of the extent
to which the operations of the Strategic Development Planning Authority are funded by way of
taxation and grant income or from the recipients of services provided by the Strategic
Development Planning Authority.

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

(74)

Net surplus or (deficit) on the provision of
services
Adjust net surplus or (deficit) on the provision
of services for non-cash movements

(21)

(74)

Net cash flows from Operating Activities

(21)

(74)

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents

(21)

37

Cash and cash equivalents at the beginning of
the reporting period

(37)

(37)

Cash and cash equivalents at the end of the
reporting period

(58)

-
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Note

11

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS
Note 1 Accounting Policies
General Principles
The Annual Accounts summarises the Strategic Development Planning Authority’s
transactions for the 2019/20 financial year and its position at the year end of 31 March 2020.
The Strategic Development Planning Authority is required to prepare Annual Accounts by the
Local Authority Accounts (Scotland) Regulations 2014, of which section 12 of the Local
Government in Scotland Act 2003 require them to be prepared in accordance with proper
accounting practices. These practices primarily comprise the Code of Practice on Local
Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom 2019/20, supported by International Financial
Reporting Standards and statutory guidance issued under section 12 of the 2003 Act.
The accounting convention adopted in the Annual Accounts is historical cost.
The accounting policies set out below have been applied consistently to all periods presented
in these financial statements.
Accruals and Income and Expenditure
Income and Expenditure activities are accounted for in the year in which they take place, not
simply when cash payments are made or received.
Where income and expenditure has been recognised but cash has not been received or paid,
a debtor or creditor for the relevant amount is recorded in the balance sheet.
Financial Instruments
A financial instrument is any contract that gives rise to a financial asset at one entity and a
financial liability or equity instrument at another entity.
The Strategic Development Planning Authority’s Financial Assets are held as debtors or as
cash and cash equivalents.
Financial Liabilities
The Strategic Development Planning Authority’s liabilities are shown as Creditors in the
Balance Sheet and are for less than 12 months. They are initially measured at fair value and
are subsequently carried at amortised cost, which equates to the actual cash value as at 31
March 2020.
Requisitions and Contributions
Requisitions and contributions relating to revenue expenditure are accounted for on an
accruals basis and recognised immediately in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure
Statement as income except where the grant or contribution has a condition(s) (as opposed
to restriction) that the Strategic Development Planning Authority has not satisfied, in which
case it is recognised as a Creditor.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued)
Cash and Cash Equivalents
The Strategic Development Planning Authority uses Aberdeenshire Council’s bank account
for financial transactions and the balance is invested in, or borrowed from, the Council’s Loans
Fund. This balance is repayable on demand and therefore treated as a cash equivalent, or
short-term borrowing, and is included in the Balance Sheet at amortised cost, which equates
to the actual cash value as at 31 March 2020.

Employee Benefits - Benefits Payable During Employment
The Strategic Development Planning Authority does not directly employ staff but reimburses
the employing authorities for staff costs paid including any pension related costs as they are
incurred.

Employee Benefits - Post-Employment Benefits
The Strategic Development Planning Authority’s staff are on secondment from Aberdeen City
and Aberdeenshire Council and as such are entitled to be members of the Superannuation
Scheme which is administered by Aberdeen City Council. This provides staff with defined
benefits upon their retirement, and the Strategic Development Planning Authority contributes
towards the costs by making contributions based on a percentage of members’ pensionable
salaries.
The arrangements for the Superannuation scheme mean that liabilities for these benefits
cannot be identified specifically to the Strategic Development Planning Authority. The scheme
is therefore accounted for as if it were a defined contribution scheme and no liability for future
payments of benefits is recognised in the Balance Sheet.

Reserves
The nature of Strategic Development Planning Authority’s operations precludes it from
creating reserves other than a General Fund. This Fund, or general reserve, captures all
assets and liabilities that are not assigned to a special purpose fund.

Value Added Tax
Value Added Tax is included in the Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement only
to the extent that it is irrecoverable.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 1 Accounting Policies (continued)
Events after the Balance Sheet Date
Events after the Balance Sheet date are those events, both favourable and unfavourable that
occur between the end of the reporting period (the Balance Sheet date) and the date when
the financial statements are authorised for issue.
There are two types of events:
a) those that provide evidence of conditions that existed at the Balance Sheet date
(adjusting events after the reporting period); and
b) those that provide evidence of conditions that arose after the Balance Sheet date (nonadjusting events after the reporting period).
The accounts are adjusted to reflect adjusting events after the reporting period and are not
adjusted to reflect non-adjusting events after the reporting period. Where a non-adjusting
event would have a material effect, disclosure is made in the notes as to the nature of the
events and the estimated financial effect.
Events taking place after the date of authorisation for issue are not reflected in the Annual
Accounts.

Note 2 Accounting Standards that have been issued but have not yet been adopted
The adoption of the following accounting standards by the Code in 2020/21 will result in
changes in accounting policy:
•

Amendment to IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Long Term
Interests in Associates and Joint Ventures

•

Annual Improvements to IFRS Standards: 2015 - 2017 Cycle

•

Amendments to IAS 19 Employee Benefits: Plan Amendment, Curtailment or
Settlement

•

The implementation of IFRS 16 Leases has been deferred by CIPFA until the 2021/22
Code.

It is not anticipated that these changes will have a material effect for the Strategic
Development Planning Authority.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 3 New Accounting Standards effective in 2019/20
The following new standards, amendments and interpretations became effective in 2019/20
for the first time.
•

Amendment to IAS 40 Investment Property: Transfers of Investment Property

•

IFRS 12 Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities: Clarification of the Scope of the
Standard

•

IAS 28 Investments in Associates and Joint Ventures: Measuring an Associate of Joint
Venture at Fair Value

•

IFRIC 22 Foreign Currency Transactions and Advance Consideration

•

IFRIC 23 Uncertainty over Income Tax Treatments

•

Amendments to IFRS 9 Financial Instruments: Prepayment Features with Negative
Compensation.

Note 4 Critical Judgements in Applying Accounting Policies
In applying the accounting policies set out in Note 1, the Treasurer has had to make certain
judgements about complex transactions or those involving uncertainty about future events.
The critical judgements made in the Annual Accounts are:
•

The Planning (Scotland) Act 2019 has removed the main purpose of the Strategic
Development Planning Authority. From 1st April 2020, the Authority has not had any staff,
or a formal budget for 2020/21, and will be wound up at the September Board meeting.
These changes have resulted from changes in the legislative and regulatory framework,
and not due to any financial shortfall. The Treasurer has determined that, on this basis,
the Annual Accounts for 2019/20 should be prepared on a going concern basis.

Note 5 Assumptions Made About the Future and Other Major Sources of Estimation
Uncertainty
The Annual Accounts do not contain any estimated figures that are based on assumptions
made by the Strategic Development Planning Authority about the future or that are otherwise
uncertain.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 6 Events after the Balance Sheet Date
The Annual Accounts were authorised for issue by the Treasurer to the Strategic Development
Planning Authority on 26 June 2020. Where events taking place before this date provided
information about conditions existing at 31 March 2020, the figures in the financial statements
and notes have been adjusted in all material respects to reflect the impact of this information.
There have been no material events since the date of the balance sheet which necessitate
the revision of the figures in the financial statements or notes thereto including contingent
liabilities or assets.
The Planning (Scotland) Act 2019 received Royal Assent in July 2019. The effects of this have
been outlined in pages 10 – 13 of the Management Commentary, above. In terms of financial
reporting, the reduced function of the Strategic Development Planning Authority is a result of
legislative changes. As such there are no going concern matters arising for the 2019/20
Annual Accounts, despite this being the final set prepared for the Strategic Development
Planning Authority.

Note 7 Short Term Debtors

Other Local Authorities

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

40

61

40

61

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

37

58

1
2

3

40

61

Note 8 Short Term Creditors

Short Term Borrowing – Balance due to
Aberdeenshire Council Loans Fund
Other Local Authorities
Other Entities and Individuals

Note 9 External Audit Costs
The Strategic Development Planning Authority has incurred the following costs in relation to
the audit of the Annual Accounts.

Fees payable in respect of external audit
Services

31

Page 116

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

3

3

NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 10 Requisition Income
The Strategic Development Planning Authority credited the following requisitions to the
Comprehensive Income and Expenditure Statement.
2018/19
2019/20
£000
£000
Credited to Requisitions and Non-Specific Grant Income:
Requisition from Aberdeen City Council
Requisition from Aberdeenshire Council

72
73

61
61

145

122

Note 11 Cash Flow – operating activities
Adjustment to surplus or deficit on the provision of services for non-cash movements

Net Surplus/(Deficit) on the Provision of Services
Adjust net surplus or deficit on the provision of services for
non-cash movements
(Decrease) / Increase in Creditors
(Increase) / Decrease in Debtors
Net Cash Flows from Operating Activities

2018/19
£000

2019/20
£000

-

-

(180)
106
(74)

(21)
(21)

Note 12 Related Parties
The Authority is required to disclose material transactions with related parties, which are
bodies or individuals that have the potential to control or influence the Authority, or to be
controlled or influenced by the Authority. Disclosure of these transactions allows readers of
the Statements to assess the extent to which the Authority may have been constrained in its
ability to operate independently, or may have secured the capacity to limit another party’s
ability to bargain freely with the Strategic Development Planning Authority.
Members
Members have direct control over the Strategic Development Planning Authority’s financial
and operational policies and decision making. No allowances or fees have been paid to
Members in 2019/20 and there were no contracts awarded in which a Member had an interest.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 12 Related Parties (continued)
Aberdeen City Council and Aberdeenshire Council
Aberdeen City Council and Aberdeenshire Council have a significant element of control over
the general operations of the Strategic Development Planning Authority. They provide a
significant element of funding, through two specific grants, and the elected Members that they
appoint to the managing Board of the Strategic Development Planning Authority. Due to this
they can exert significant influence on its operations and decision-making processes. The
amounts relating to each Council are detailed below.

Amounts received from
2018/19
2019/20
£000
£000
Aberdeenshire Council
Aberdeen City Council

73
72

61
61

Amounts paid to
2018/19 2019/20
£000
£000
101
42

93
-

Amounts due
to/(from) as
at 31 March
2019
2020
£000
£000
(40)

(61)

Officers
The management of the Strategic Development Planning Authority is disclosed in the
remuneration report on page 15 of this document. These officers have the responsibility for
planning, directing or otherwise controlling the activities of the Strategic Development
Planning Authority. Their scope of control is determined by reference to the scheme of
delegation and financial regulations adopted by the Strategic Development Planning
Authority. The Strategic Development Planning Authority is satisfied that appropriate controls
are in place to manage and monitor the activities of the key management personnel.

Note 13 Financial Instruments
The Strategic Development Planning Authority’s financial instruments comprise both debtors
and creditors. All of these are for less than 12 months and are measured at fair value and
subsequently carried at amortised cost which equates to the actual cash value as at 31 March
2020.
There are no gains or losses recognised in the Comprehensive Income & Expenditure
Statement in relation to financial instruments.
Nature and Extent of Risks Arising from Financial Instruments:
The Strategic Development Planning Authority has no material exposure to any of the
following financial risks:
•
•
•

Credit risk – the possibility that other parties might fail to pay amounts due.
Liquidity risk – the possibility that the Strategic Development Planning Authority might not
have funds available to meet its commitments to make payments.
Market risk – the possibility that financial loss might arise for the Strategic Development
Planning Authority due to changes in such measures as interest rates and stock market
movements.
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NOTES TO THE ACCOUNTS (continued)
Note 12 Related Parties (continued)

The Strategic Development Planning Authority has reviewed all financial risks and does not
believe that it is required to make any provision within the financial statements for any financial
risk exposure.

Note 14 Pension Scheme Accounted for as a Defined Contribution Scheme
The Strategic Development Planning Authority’s staff are on secondment from Aberdeen City
and Aberdeenshire Council and as such are entitled to be members of the Superannuation
Scheme which is administered by Aberdeen City Council. This provides staff with defined
benefits upon their retirement, and the Strategic Development Planning Authority contributes
towards the costs by making contributions based on a percentage of members’ pensionable
salaries.
For the purposes of the annual accounts it is therefore accounted for as a defined contribution
scheme.
In 2019/20, the Strategic Development Planning Authority reimbursed Aberdeen City with £0,
(£5,803 in 2018/19), and Aberdeenshire Council with £13,829, (£14,366 in 2018/19) in respect
of superannuation contributions representing 19.3% of pensionable pay (19.3% in 2018/19).
The employing authority is responsible for all pension payments related to “added years” it
has awarded, together with related increases.
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GLOSSARY OF TERMS
EXPENDITURE
Supplies and Services
Includes legal costs, audit fees and consultants’ fees
INCOME
Requisitions:
Funding received from the constituent authorities.
OTHER
The Code
The Code of Practice on Local Authority Accounting in the United Kingdom
FAIR VALUE
Fair Value is the amount for which an asset could be exchanged, or a liability settled,
between knowledgeable, willing parties in an arm’s length transaction. For land and
buildings, fair value is the amount that would be paid for the asset in its existing use.
ECONOMIC COST
The total cost of performing an activity or following a decision or course of action.
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Agenda Item 5

ABERDEEN CITY & SHIRE
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY
Date: 23 September 2020
Report Title: Position of the Strategic Development Planning
Authority
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1 To advise and seek agreement on the future position of the Strategic
Development Planning Authority (SDPA) following the approval of the
Strategic Development Plan 2020.
2.

Background

2.1 The SDPA was formed in 2008 and is one of four city-region Planning
Authorities in Scotland. The primary role of the SDPA is to prepare and keep
up to date a Strategic Development Plan, engaging with both stakeholders and
communities. Under the SDPA, three plans were approved:




Aberdeen City and Shire Structure Plan 2009
Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan 2014
and the very recent
Aberdeen City and Shire Strategic Development Plan 2020.

2.2 The requirement to produce and replace Strategic Development Plans is no
longer in effect as a result of the enactment of the Planning (Scotland) Act
2019.
2.3 The now approved Proposed Strategic Development Plan 2020 was undertaken
with the partner Authorities, key agencies and relevant stakeholders. Since
December 2017, the Chief Officer Strategic Place Planning (Aberdeen City
Council) and the Head of Service Planning and Environment (Aberdeenshire
Council) have taken over the management duties associated with the Strategic
Development Planning Authority.
3.

Legislative Changes and Future Direction

3.1 The removal of the requirement to produce Strategic Development Plans, and
their replacement with Regional Strategic Strategies (RSS), was confirmed on
the 25 July 2019, when the Planning (Scotland) Act 2019 received Royal
Assent. The Strategic Development Planning Authority has, however,
remained committed to the delivery of the proposed Strategic Development
Plan 2018 through Examination and Approval by Scottish Ministers.
Transitional arrangements on the implementation of the Planning (Scotland)
Act 2019 were expected to be published by the Scottish Government. This,
however, has not yet happened. The requirement for the submission of an
Indicative Regional Spatial Strategy (RSS) has recently been requested by the
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Scottish Government. A formal RSS will only be capable of being finalised
once the Duty has been enacted through the issue of regulation and guidance.
The timescale for the formal RSS to be finalised and adopted once the Duty is
enacted is likely to be towards end 2021 / start of 2022, subject to
confirmation. These arrangements will give greater clarity regarding the
requirements to produce Regional Strategic Strategies. It is the intention that
Indicative RSS submissions will mainly be for internal consideration to help
inform the National Planning Framework 4 (NPF4) Position Statement.
3.2 The current Minute of Agreement (MOA) sets out the duties of the SDPA. The
list of duties primarily come from the Town and Country Planning (Scotland)
Act 1997 and the Town and Country Planning (Development Planning)
(Scotland) Regulations 2008. Once the relevant provisions of the Planning
(Scotland) Act 2019 come into force, repealing these sections, these powers
and duties will no longer be active. The remaining items of the MOA are
mostly supplementary to the legislative powers and duties derived from the
legislation. Therefore, once the SDPA is legally wound up when the 2019 Act
repeals the relevant sections of the 1997 Act, the powers and duties will also
dissolve and therefore we do not need to consider which Authorities take
those powers on.
3.3 There are no longer any permanent or seconded members of staff working for
the Strategic Development Authority. Given that the primary expenditure of the
Authority has been staffing costs, and there are no staff currently in post, there
will be no requirement for a formal budget for 2020/21. Any costs arising from
the approval of the Proposed Strategic Development Plan 2018, and its
subsequent publication, will be jointly met by Aberdeen City Council and
Aberdeenshire Council as required. Both Councils are committed to providing
technical knowledge and resources to undertake regional or strategic
development planning, if required.
3.4 In terms of considering the future role of the SDPA it is recognised that there is
an expectation that similar collaborative working will continue. This being
reflective of the agile approach conveyed by the Strategic Development
Planning Authority towards positioning itself to accommodate any significant
changes affecting the region and, with a view to identifying a similar approach
when looking to the future and the requirement to produce a Regional Spatial
Strategy.
3.5 The Board therefore has a reasonable expectation that the Strategic
Development Planning Authority may, in the future, continue in a similar
operational format albeit for a different purpose, should this be required. At
the present time, and until there is greater clarity with regards to the legislative
requirements for Regional Spatial Strategies, it is recommended the SDPA is
wound up as an entity based on the legislative requirements to produce
Strategic Development Plans.
3.6 Going forward, and until the direction of travel becomes clearer, there is
confidence that any future governance structure could be set up with relative
ease, reflective of the current SDPA format. Section 57 of the Local
Government (Scotland) Act 1973 allows two or more Councils to set up joint
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Committees to discharge their functions. Subject to guidance and regulations
from the Scottish Government, it would likely be an option for Aberdeen City
Council and Aberdeenshire Council to set up a joint Committee to discharge
their RSS functions.
4.

Recommendations
It is recommended that the Strategic Development Planning Authority:
a. Agree to the winding up of the Strategic Development Planning Authority
as an entity based on the legislative requirements to produce Strategic
Development Plans
b. Agree to further work by Officers of both Authorities to consider the future
needs and requirements of discharging their functions pertaining to
Regional Spatial Strategies.

Report Prepared By:
Mairi Stewart
Service Manager
Aberdeenshire Council

Gale Beattie
Chief Officer Strategic Place Planning
Aberdeen City Council
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Paul Macari
Head of Planning and Environment
Aberdeenshire Council
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Agenda Item 6

ABERDEEN CITY & SHIRE
STRATEGIC DEVELOPMENT PLANNING AUTHORITY
Date: 23 September 2020
Report Title: Strategic Development Planning Authority - Bulletin
1.

Purpose of Report

1.1 The purpose of this Report is to give Members a brief overview of strategic
planning matters involving or relating to the work undertaken by the Strategic
Development Planning Authority.

2.

Local Development Plan Update
Aberdeen City Local Development Plan

2.1 The Aberdeen Local Development Plan (2017) was adopted by Aberdeen City
Council on 20 January 2017. Under current legislation, Planning Authorities
are required to prepare a new Local Development Plan at least every 5 years.
The Main Issues Report Consultation took place from 4 March to 13 May
2019.
2.2 Aberdeen City Council approved the proposed Local Development Plan at Full
Council on 2 March 2020. A period of Representation in public was
undertaken from the 20 May to 31 August 2020 (14.5 weeks). Over 1,200
representations were received.
2.3 These representations are currently being reviewed and will be considered
and responded to before the Proposed Local Development Plan is submitted
for examination in early 2021.
Aberdeenshire Local Development Plan
2.4 The Aberdeenshire Local Development Plan (2017) was adopted by
Aberdeenshire Council on 17 April 2017. The Aberdeenshire Local
Development Plan is also under review. Aberdeenshire Council’s
Infrastructure Services Committee agreed the Main Issues Report for public
consultation on 29 November 2018, consultation ran from 14 January 2019,
and the consultation period ran until 8 April 2019.
2.5 Aberdeenshire Council approved the proposed Local Development Plan at Full
Council on 5th March 2020. A period of Representation in public was
undertaken from 25 May to 31 July 2020 (10 weeks). Over 1,300
representations were received.
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2.6 These representations are currently being reviewed and will be considered
and responded to before the Proposed Local Development Plan is submitted
for examination in early 2021.

3.

Regional Transport Strategy – Nestrans 2040

3.1 Nestrans launched a Draft Regional Transport Strategy for the north east of
Scotland on the 5 August 2020.
3.2 This draft strategy has been developed following extensive research,
consultation and engagement throughout 2019 and early 2020, including a
number of individual stakeholder meetings.
3.3 The consultation will run for a period of 10 weeks until Friday 16 October
2020. A consultation website, www.nestrans2040.org.uk, has been
developed where users can access all the draft documents and details on how
to respond either individually or on behalf of their organisation.

4.

Scottish Government – National Planning Framework 4

4.1 The Scottish Government has published Independent analysis of responses to
the call for ideas to inform the preparation of a new National Planning
Framework (NPF), launched in January 2020. The analysis can be read here.
Both Aberdeenshire Council and Aberdeen City Council made detailed
submissions to the call for evidence in January.
4.2 The Scottish Government has also launched a consultation relating to a
housing land supply. The aim of the consultation is to achieve housing
development in a sustainable way. There is a need to overcome current
conflict in the planning system and actively address lengthy technical debates
about the numbers of homes that will be needed in the future. This will allow
greater focus on delivery and enable good quality development on the ground.
4.3 This consultation paper sets out proposed policy amendments to achieve
these objectives and invites views on them. These are draft proposals and, in
the meantime, the existing policy remains in place. The paper may be a
material consideration in the determination of planning applications and
appeals, with the weighting of any material consideration being a matter for
the decision maker.
4.4 The consultation paper can be found here.

5.

Strategic Transport Projects

5.1 Transport Scotland has been working to deliver the Covid-19 Transport
Transition Plan in recent months. Transport Scotland is now turning its
attention to wider and longer term agendas including the key role that
transport has to play in that recovery.
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5.2 The pace and scale of change in economic and social activity as a result of
managing the Coronavirus crisis has been unprecedented and has had a
significant impact on travel demand.
5.3 Alongside this has been a change in the timing and framing of other key
Scottish Government deliverables this year, including the National Transport
Strategy Delivery Plan, the Climate Change Plan Update, the National
Planning Framework 4 as well as the Infrastructure Investment Plan which
have all had their publication dates changed in response to Covid-19.
5.4 Given the scale of uncertainty and the close linkages that these other pieces
of work have in the context of Strategic Transport Projects Review 2,
Transport Scotland will consider the implications for transport and how they restart the review to ensure that this will help identify interventions that would aid
or help accelerate economic recovery where appropriate.
5.5 A timeline for this amended work programme should be known by autumn
2020.

Report Prepared By:
Tom Walsh, Senior Planner
Aberdeen City Council

Gale Beattie
Chief Officer Strategic Place Planning
Aberdeen City Council
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Paul Macari
Head of Planning and Environment
Aberdeenshire Council
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